


CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GROWTH ENTERPRISE MARKET
("GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a high investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the
potential risks of investing in such companies and should make
the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.
The greater risk profile and other characteristics of GEM mean
that it is a market more suited to professional and other
sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM, there
is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible
to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid
market in the securities traded on GEM.

The principal means of information dissemination on GEM is
publication on the Internet website operated by the Stock
Exchange. Listed companies are not generally required to
issue paid announcements in gazette newspapers. Accordingly,
prospective investors should note that they need to have
access to the GEM website at www.hkgem.com in order to
obtain up-to-date information on GEM-listed issuers.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from
on or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this
report.

This report, for which the directors of ZMAY Holdings Limited
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes
particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange for the purpose
of giving information with regard to ZMAY Holdings Limited. The
directors of ZMAY Holdings Limited, having made all reasonable
enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief:
(1) the information contained in this report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading, (2) there are no other
matters the omission of which would make any statement in this
report misleading, and (3) all opinions expressed in this report have
been arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded
on bases and assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED # R % ERERQFA

CORPORATE INFORMATION 2 R&E#!

COPRORATE PROFILE

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 30 October
2000 as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands. The shares of the
Company have been listed on the Growth Enterprise Market (the
"GEM") of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 7 March 2002. The name of the Company was
changed from “New Chinese Medicine Holdings Limited” to "ZMAY
Holdings Limited” with effect from 1 August 2008.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chu Hon Pong Chairman
Dr. Neil Kai Gu

Ms. Tong Pui Chi Lucia

Mr. Law Kwok Chung

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Chu Kar Wing

Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam)

Mr. Ku Ling Yu John

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Law Kwok Chung

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
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QUALIFIED ACCOUNTANT
Mr. Law Kwok Chung

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES
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CORPORATE INFORMATION 2 R&E#!

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
NCN CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

British West Indies

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
Room 802

Tower 1, Harbour Centre

1 Hok Cheung Street

Hunghom, Kowloon

Hong Kong

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Standard Limited

26/F, Tesbury Centre

28 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

GEM STOCK CODE
8085

WEBSITE ADDRESS
http://www.zmayholdings.com
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ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED # R % ERERQFA

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT =E#H&

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | am pleased to
present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2009.

In this year, the Group has completed the acquisition of the
entire issued and fully paid capital of Beijing Zhongmin Anyuan
Investment Company Limited and the controlling interest of four
cemetery companies, namely Xinjiang Ruilin Zhiye Company Limited,;
Neimenggu Shenghe Development Limited, Taiyuan City Wufuling
Company Limited and Qinhai Fuli Fenghuangshan Cemetery
Company Limited. The acquisitions have provided the Group an
opportunity to enter into the cemetery related business in the PRC.
The Board believes investment in this area would help the Group
earning considerable long-term return in the future.

The financial year of 2008/09 was meaningful to the Group, as the
Board opened a new horizon in the investment and management
of funeral services business in the PRC. The Group will consolidate
quality cemeteries and funeral parlors in the mainland. Through
synergy we are benefited from our subsidiary companies of their
talent management skill and valuable experience. We strive for
striking the balance between promoting the up-to-date etiquette of
the trade and improving business efficiency and investment returns at
the same time. And the Group will keep on exploring opportunities
in the related business.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express our sincere gratitude to all our equity holders, customers,
business partners who have been offering their support, confidence
and encouragement to us. Not to mention the great devotion,
diligence and effort of the management and the members of staff
who tirelessly committed themselves in striving for improvements
of the Group. With all these supports remain, we shall continue to
explore means to improve the Group’s performance and provide
investment returns to the investors.

Chu Hon Pong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 May 2009
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R Z 7R B R 2 8 ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &3 Er &k 24

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
For the year ended 31 March 2009, the Group recorded an audited
consolidated turnover of approximately HK$55,720,000, which
represented sales of healthcare products and income from funeral
and related businesses. The revenue for the year ended 31 March
2008 was approximately HK$29,776,000.

The operating expenses for the period under review amounted to
approximately HK$37,978,000 as compared to that of 2008 of
approximately HK$16,646,000. The increase in operating expenses
was mainly caused by consolidated the operating expenses from the
acquired subsidiaries and increase in business activities.

Audited net loss attributable to the equity holders for the period
amounted to approximately HK$6,290,000 as compared to net loss
of approximately HK$13,369,000 for the corresponding period in
2008.

On 7 July 2008, the Group has completed the acquisition of the
entire issued and fully paid share capital of Beijing Zhongmin
Anyuan Investment Company Limited (“Zhongmin Anyuan”) at a
cash consideration of HK$25 million. On 18 July 2008, the Group
has completed the acquisition of 51% issued and fully paid share
capital of Xinjiang Ruilin Zhiye Company Limited; Neimenggu
Shenghe Development Limited and Taiyuan City Wufuling Company
Limited, and 52% issued and fully paid share capital of Qinhai
Fuli Fenghuangshan Cemetery Company Limited (collectively, the
“Cemetery Companies”) at an aggregate consideration of RMB72
million. The acquisitions have provided the Group an opportunity
to enter into the cemetery related business in the PRC. The
post acquisition results of Zhongmin Anyuan and the Cemetery
Companies have been included in the audited consolidated results of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2009. Details of Zhongmin
Anyuan and the Cemetery Companies were set out in the circular
dispatched to the shareholders of the Company dated 14 April 2008.

PROSPECTS

The sales on healthcare products continue picking up its pace during
the second half of the financial year of 2008/09. The winter season,
which is the high season to consume traditional healthcare products,
has helped improving the Group’s revenue on sales of healthcare
products.
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ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED # R % ERERQFA

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEEst ko

The acquisitions of the Cemetery Companies on 18 July 2008 signify
the Group has entered into a new horizon in the investment and
management of funeral services business in the PRC. Pursuant to
the information from the Ministry of Civil Affairs of the PRC, the
cremation becomes more popular recently, in particular in the major
and capital cities. This trend will be favorable to the sales of the
Cemetery Companies. The Group believes that the revenue will be
further benefited and enhanced from the addition in the investment
in the funeral services and management business in the PRC.

The Group will continue to consolidate quality cemeteries and
funeral parlors in the mainland should good business opportunities
come. In procession of healthy business prospect, positive policy and
superiority in human resources, the Group is confidence in its future
development and to provide investment returns to the investors.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group's net current assets as at 31 March 2009 were
approximately HK$93,833,000 as compared to net current assets of
approximately HK$71,813,000 as at 31 March 2008. There were no
bank borrowings as at 31 March 2009 (31 March 2008: Nil).

Bonus warrants were exercised by warrant holders during the year
ended 31 March 2009 to subscribe for a total of approximately
678,000 shares in the Company by payment of subscription
monies of approximately HK$312,000, of which approximately
HK$27,000 was credited to share capital account and the balance
of approximately HK$285,000 was credited to the share premium
account. The subscription price of the bonus warrants was adjusted
from HK$0.46 to HK$0.45 upon completion of the share placing as
mentioned below on 17 July 2008.

The Company has entered into a Placing Agreement on 27 June
2008 with the Placing Agent for placing, on a best effort basis, of
an aggregate of up to 150,000,000 Placing Shares to independent
investors at a price of HK$0.80 per Placing Share. The Placing Shares
to be issued, when fully paid, will rank, upon issue, pari passu in all
respects with the existing issued Shares. Details of the share placing
were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 30 June 2008.
On 17 July 2008, the 150,000,000 Placing Shares were issued and
allotted to independent investors at a price of HK$0.80 per Placing
Share.
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R Z K ER D A ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS &3 Er &k 24

The Company has been informed by the previous placing agent on
30 July 2008 that the previous placing, on a best effort basis, of an
aggregate of up to 400,000,000 new Shares at a price of HK$1.00
per placing Share has not been completed before the Longstop Date
on 30 July 2008 and accordingly the previous placing lapsed. Details
of the lapse of the previous placing were set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 31 July 2008.

GEARING RATIO
As at 31 March 2009, the Group’s gearing ratio, being the ratio
of total liabilities to total assets, was approximately 26% (2008:
approximately 2%).

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly earns revenue and incurs costs in Hong Kong
Dollars and Renminbi and considers that the impact of foreign
exchange exposure of the Group is minimal.

CHARGE OF GROUP ASSETS
As at 31 March 2009, the Group did not have any material charge on
assets (2008: Nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

Except for the acquisition of subsidiaries as set out in note 27 to
the financial statements, the Group had no significant investments
during the year.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Except for the acquisition of subsidiaries as set out in note 27 to
the financial statements, the Group had no material acquisitions or
disposals during the year.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

As at 31 March 2009, the Group employed a total of 223 (31 March
2008: 7) full-time employees in Hong Kong and PRC. During the
year ended 31 March 2009, the total remuneration to employees,
including directors’ emoluments amounted to approximately
HK$14,316,000 (2008: approximately HK$5,843,000). The Group
remunerates its employees based on their performance, qualification,
experience and the prevailing industry practice.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2009, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (2008: Nil).
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ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED # R % ERERQFA

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS Z==fj

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chu Hon Pong, aged 59, is the chairman of the Group. Mr. Chu
is responsible for overseeing the formulation of corporate strategy
of the Group. Mr. Chu joined the Group on 9 October 2007. Mr.
Chu holds a Master Degree of Business Administration from Stevens
Institute of Technology in New Jersey, the United States of America.
He is the Chairman of American Dream Parks & Entertainment
Group. His businesses covered land and property development and
trade of petroleum in the Greater China. He has over 30 years'
experience in direct investment, international trade, manufacturing,
business and industrial management in the Greater China, Vietnam
and the United States of America. He has been the personal assistant
to Mr. Robert Miller, the Chairman of Search Investment Holdings
Limited and was designated as Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
to a listed Company and certain corporations in Hong Kong and PRC.
In the early 80’s, he was engaged in business in Mainland China and
was appointed as the factory manager in a joint venture steel factory,
namely Sino Master Steel Company Limited, in Shenzhen, PRC. In the
90’s, he was the founder of Vietnam Duty Free Industry.

Dr. Neil Kai Gu, aged 48, is the executive director of the Group. Dr.
Gu is responsible for the formulation of corporate and investment
strategy of the Group. Dr. Gu was appointed as non-executive
director on 21 January 2008 and re-designated to executive director
on 29 December 2008. Dr. Gu is CEO and member of the Board
of Director at CASI Foundation, brings a wealth of knowledge and
passion to the organization and to CASI's families. His desire for
positively impacting the lives of adoptive families and orphaned
children worldwide prompted his interest in humanitarian endeavors.
One of Dr. Gu's greatest contributions is his significant business
knowledge and experience in Asian affairs and his close working
relationships with many of its top officials. In addition to his work
with CASI, he is currently the CEO of Boise, Idaho based business
consulting firm Lucky Star International LLC, Co-founder of CASI
Investment Holding Limited in Hong Kong and a visiting professor at
Boise State University in Boise, Idaho. Dr. Gu holds a Master degree
from Brigham Young University and a Doctor of Musical Arts and
Education degree from the University of Hartford. He spent twenty
years as a professor of music in his life. In addition to his vast
experience in the international business arena, he is also a world-
renowned violist.

Ms. Tong Pui Chi Lucia, aged 45, is the executive director of the
Group. Ms. Tong is responsible for the business; sales and marketing
operations of the Group. Ms. Tong joined the Group on 22 July
2005. Ms. Tong is the chairlady of the remuneration committee of
the Company. Ms. Tong is experienced in management and business
development both in Hong Kong and overseas. Ms. Tong has been
engaged in the tourist-retailing industry for over 10 years which
include the supervision of various investment projects such as the
operation of the Duty Free Shops. She will be responsible for research
and development in Chinese medicine, health and skin-care products
as well as new investment opportunities.
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R Z 7R B R 2 8 ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS Z==f/

Mr. Law Kwok Chung, aged 51, is the executive director of the
Group. Mr. Law is responsible for the Group’s financial control and
accounting functions. Mr. Law joined the Group on 31 August
2005 and had been appointed executive director on 21 January
2008. Mr. Law is the Company Secretary of the Company. Mr. Law
holds a Bachelor degree in Commerce and a Master degree of
Business Administration. Mr. Law has over 20 years of experience in
accounting, auditing and finance for private and public companies in
investment, medical and healthcare, construction and manufacturing
industries in Hong Kong and overseas. He is an associate member of
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chu Kar Wing, aged 52, was appointed as independent non-
executive director on 6 October 2004. Mr. Chu graduated from the
Chinese University of Hong Kong with a degree in Social Science in
1979. He has over 20 years of experience in the banking industry
and commerce. He is currently Executive Vice President of Visiontech
International Holdings Limited and Vice President of EPI (Holdings)
Limited. Mr. Chu also served as independent non-executive director
of two Hong Kong listed companies, namely Emperor Entertainment
Group Limited and China Power New Energy Development Company
Limited.

Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam), aged 59, was appointed as
an independent non-executive director and chairman of the audit
committee of the Company on 6 October 2004. Dr. Loke has over
35 years of experience in accounting and auditing for private and
public companies, financial consultancy and corporate management.
He holds a Master of Business Administration degree from Universiti
Teknologi Malaysia and a Doctor of Business Administration degree
from University of South Australia. He is a Fellow of The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales; Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants; and the Hong Kong Institute of
Directors. He is also an Associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and a member of the Malaysian Institute of
Accountants. He is the Company Secretary of Minth Group Limited
and also serves as an independent non-executive director of several
companies listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Ku Ling Yu, John, aged 61, was appointed as an independent
non-executive director on 20 July 2005. Mr. Ku is a practising
solicitor and Notary Public in the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region. Mr. Ku is also qualified to practise as a solicitor in England
and Wales, and in Victoria, Australia. Mr. Ku served firstly as a non-
executive director and later as an executive director of Magician
Industries (Holdings) Limited during the period from June 2000 to
March 2005.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

OVERVIEW

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is pleased to
present this Corporate Governance Report in the annual report for
the year ended 31 March 2009.

It is always a key concern of the Company to have high standards of
corporate governance. It is important because the Board believes that
good quality corporate governance would assist the management to
monitor the Company’s business activities effectively and thus equity
holders" interests will be well protected.

The Board will discuss the code provisions set out in the Code
on Corporate Governance Practices (the “CG Code”) contained
in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company’s
compliance and deviations throughout the year ended 31 March
2009.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealing as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the
Directors have complied with such code of conduct and the required
standard of dealings throughout the year ended 31 March 2009.

THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Company
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the
Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors should
take decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

The Board currently comprises 7 members, consisting of four
executive directors and three independent non-executive directors.
Mr. Chu Hon Pong, Ms. Tong Pui Chi Lucia and Mr. Law Kwok
Chung served as executive directors for the whole year ended 31
March 2009. Dr. Neil Kai Gu served as non-executive director for the
period from 1 April 2008 to 28 December 2008. Dr. Neil Kai Gu re-
designated to executive director on 29 December 2008. Mr. Chu
Kar Wing, Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam) and Mr. Ku Ling Yu John
served as independent non-executive directors for the whole year
ended 31 March 20009.

The Board meets at least four times a year to review the financial and
operating performance of the Group.
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There were 18 Board meetings held for the year ended 31 March
2009. Individual attendance of each Board member at these
meetings is as follows:

HE-_ZTTNF-A=Z+—HIFEETTI8RE
EEOH REETORELERELRZERNT

Attend/
Eligible to attend
R,
Name of Directors EEpR HEERLREZRE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Chu Hon Pong REHEE 17117
Dr. Neil Kai Gu Byl kEt 6/11
Ms. Tong Pui Chi Lucia EmZ N8 17117
Mr. Law Kwok Chung BREIBSLE 16/17
Mr. Liu Jing AmEE 8/11
Mr. Li Heguo FHB LA 8/8
Mr. Wong Ching THAEE 0/1
Mr. An Jinping ZERFEE 8/8
Mr. Li Junhong TERTE 8/8
Independent non-executive directors BYFHTES
Mr. Chu Kar Wing REREE 12/12
Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam) BEgMIB L 12/12
Mr. Ku Ling Yu John BREELE 12/12

In compliance with Rules 5.01 and 5.02 of the GEM Listing Rules in
regarding to independent non-executive directors (the “INED(s)"),
the Company has currently three INEDs, namely Mr. Chu Kar Wing,
Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam) and Mr. Ku Ling Yu John. Dr Loke
has the appropriate accounting expertise. These INEDs can help
the management to formulate the Group’s development strategies,
ensure the Board prepares its financial and other mandatory
reports in strict compliance with required standards, and ensure
the Company maintains appropriate system to protect the interests
of the Company and its equity holders. The Board has received the
annual confirmation in respect of their independence from each of
the INEDs, and believes that their independence is in compliance with
the GEM Listing Rules at the date of this annual report.
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DISTINCTIVE ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
should be separated and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman and
chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out in
writing.

Mr. Chu Hon Pong is the chairman of the Company who is
responsible for managing the Board and overseeing the formulation
of corporate strategy of the Group. The chief executive officer of the
Company is responsible for the overall management and business
operations of the group. Mr. Li Heguo was the chief executive officer
of the Company for the period from 1 April 2008 to 15 December
2008. Mr. Wong Ching was the chief executive officer of the
Company for the period from 29 December 2008 to 6 March 2009.
The Board is in the process of locating an appropriate person to fill
the vacancy of the chief executive officer of the Company as soon as
practicable.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
The CG Code 4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.

All the non-executive directors of the Company have entered into
service agreement with the Company which shall expire on 30 June
2011.

The CG Code 4.2 stipulates that every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

Article 87 of the articles of association of the Company required
that every director of the Company shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

An audit committee was established with written terms of reference
in compliance with the relevant GEM Listing Rules. There are three
members in the audit committee comprising three independent non-
executive directors, namely, Mr. Chu Kar Wing, Dr. Loke Yu (alias
Loke Hoi Lam) and Mr. Ku Ling Yu John. The primary duties of the
audit committee are to review the Company's annual report and
accounts, half-yearly report and quarterly reports and to provide
advices and comments thereon to the Board. The audit committee
meets at least four times a year with management and meets at
least once a year with external auditors to review the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and to discuss audit
findings, internal control, accounting and financial reporting matters.
The audit committee met four times during the year ended 31 March
2009, individual attendance of each committee member at these
meetings is as follows:

ENEES
ARREREBRIRR TR BRREKL—E
BERZEBE UNEAILEERRE -BRZE
SRR EENK  BR-ZNUBIFNTESTRE
WAL BEEMBLRERGELE FREESZ
IBBEATHNARARZFRERE  FFERS
LEERE YR AESERUEZRER -F
BZEE-FRIAEEERTHNAERNRI A
BURBMBIT-REE  URIAEEMRHZ
SR LEN  UHHBERER AHPEEZ &
ARMBHREFE REE-_ZTNF=A=1—
ALEER BERRBERTTHNREH &%E8
EXEHEZFERZBERNOT

Attend/

Eligible to attend

HERY,

Committee members ZEEHNE HEBEBEEZRE
Independent non-executive directors BYEHITES

Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam) a5y N 4/4

Mr. Chu Kar Wing REREE 4/4

Mr. Ku Ling Yu John BfEHLE 4/4

The Group’s audited consolidated results for the year ended 31
March 2009 have been reviewed by the audit committee.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A Remuneration Committee has been established with written terms
of reference in accordance with the requirements of the CG Code.
The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors, namely Mr. Chu Kar Wing, Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke
Hoi Lam) and Mr. Ku Ling Yu John, and one executive director Miss
Tong Pui Chi Lucia. Miss Tong Pui Chi Lucia being the Chairperson
of the Remuneration Committee. The principal responsibilities of
the Remuneration Committee include making recommendations to
the Board on the Company’s policy, and structure for remuneration
of all Directors and senior management, and reviewing the specific
remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior
management by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved
by the Board from time to time.
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During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee held
three meetings and the attendance record is set out below:

TERER®ME

REBEFERN FHEEQRTT=ZREE  FAH
2 HEREIT

Attend/

Eligible to attend

HERY,

Committee members ZEER HEEBEEZRE

Executive director BITER

Ms. Tong Pui Chi Lucia /A 3/3
Independent non-executive directors BIYEHTES

Mr. Chu Kar Wing Rk 313

Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam) B MIE L 3/3

Mr. Ku Ling Yu John BEF L E 33

REMUNERATION OF THE AUDITORS

For the year ended 31 March 2009, the Audit Committee had
reviewed the performance of Messrs. NCN CPA Limited (“NCN") as
the external auditors of the Company and proposed to re-appoint
NCN as the external auditors. The auditors’ remuneration for the year
ended 31 March 2009 is HK$350,000 (2008: HK$200,000).

RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARATION OF THE ACCOUNTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing of
the financial statements of the Group. In preparing the financial
statements, the Hong Kong Accounting Standards have been
adopted and appropriate accounting policies have been applied
consistently. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
or events which may have a significant impact on the Company’s
ability to operate as a going concern. Accordingly, the Directors
had prepared the financial statements of the Company on a going
concern basis. The responsibility of the auditors is set out in the
“Auditors Report” in this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Directors have overall responsibility for the establishment,
maintenance and review of the Group’s system of internal control.
For the year ended 31 March 2009, the Directors periodically
reviewed its internal control system to ensure its effectiveness
and adequacy, which embraced financial, operational and risk
management control. The Directors also satisfied with the adequancy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget.

COMMUNICATION WITH EQUITY HOLDERS

The Directors will meet with the Company’s equity holders and
answer enquires raised by them in the annual and special general
meetings.
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The directors present their annual report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is
principally engaged in (i) the sales of healthcare products in Hong
Kong; and (i) funeral and related businesses in the PRC. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 33 to the financial
statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2009 are set
out on the consolidated income statement on page 25.

No interim dividend was declared for the year ended 31 March 2009
(2008: Nil).

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2009 (2008: Nil).

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the published results, assets, liabilities and
minority interests of the Group for the last five financial years and
reclassified as appropriated, is set out on page 92. This summary
does not form part of the audited financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 25 to the financial statements and
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 24 to the
financial statements.

On 16 November 2007, a total of 105,219,106 options have been
granted to the Participants to subscribe for a total of 105,219,106
shares of the Company at a price of HK$1.10 per share. No share
options have been exercised by the Participants since 16 November
2007 and up to the date of this report.

By an ordinary resolution duly passed at an extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 19 September 2008, the total
number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under
the Share Option Scheme was increased to 120,378,613 shares,
which represents 10% of the total number of shares in issue at 19
September 2008.
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Details of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in note 30
to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the financial
statements.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive directors:
Mr. Chu Hon Pong Chairman
Dr. Neil Kai Gu

(re-designated on 29 December 2008)
Ms. Tong Pui Chi Lucia
Mr. Law Kwok Chung
Mr. Wong Ching

(appointed on 29 December 2008

and resigned on 6 March 2009)

Mr. Li Heguo

(resigned on 15 December 2008)
Mr. An Jinping

(resigned on 15 December 2008)
Mr. Li Junhong

(resigned on 15 December 2008)

Non-executive director:
Mr. Liu Jing
(re-designated on 29 December 2008
and resigned on 6 March 2009)

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Chu Kar Wing

Dr. Loke Yu (alias Loke Hoi Lam)

Mr. Ku Ling Yu John

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’'s Articles of
Association, Ms. Tong Pui Chi Lucia, Mr. Chu Kar Wing and Mr. Ku
Ling Yu John will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for an initial term of three years which will
continue thereafter until terminated by either party by giving to
the other not less than three months prior written notice. Each of
the independent non-executive directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company which shall expire on 30 June 2011.
The agreement may be terminated by either party by giving to the
other not less than one month prior written notice.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the "Directors’ Service Contracts”, no contracts
of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at
any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2009, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO) or as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
minimum standards of dealings by directors as referred to in Rule
5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:
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(1) Long positions in the shares of the Company

(2)

Name of directors

EEEW

Mr. Chu Hon Pong
REHLE

Ms. Tong Pui Chi Lucia
EmZ/ME

Mr. Law Kwok Chung
BELRE

Long positions in the underlying shares of the Company

(a) Warrants

Name of directors

EEER

Mr. Chu Hon Pong
RERLE

Ms. Tong Pui Chi Lucia
EmZ /A

Mr. Law Kwok Chung
BEDRE

Type of interest
Rz 8 Al

Personal
EPN
Personal
(EPN
Personal

& A

(1) REQFARGBZEFR

Number of shares

ROBE

155,150,967

1,300,000

300,000

Interest in the
Company'’s
share capital
REARTZ
R A #E 22

12.89%
0.11%

0.02%

(2 REXFARBERGZFR

() REEE

Type of interest

R 8

Personal
A
Personal
(EPN
Personal

f& A

Number of shares
entitled pursuant to

the full exercise of the
warrants held as at

31 March 2009
R-ZEZNAF=A=+—H
FAEZRRERTHITER
MERZROHA

746,666
346,666

80,000
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(b) BEE

Cancelled/
Exercise  Outstanding Granted Exercised  terminated Outstanding
Date of grant price as at during during during as at Expiry
Name of Directors of share options per share 01/04/2008 the year the year the year 31/03/2009 date
R-ZRNF R-Z2ENE
SRR BA-BHA  REREEL  REAGE REAEE/ ZAZt-BHA
E£T FRERHZAH ik fEzERE  2BRE  BRE RArcBRE  GEZBRE  ERAH
HKS
i
Ms. Tong Pui Chi Lucia 16/11/2007 110 7,500,000 - - - 7,500,000 16/11/2010
Bz
Mr. Chu Kar Wing 16/11/2007 110 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 - 161172010
Dr. Loke Hoi Lam 16/11/2007 110 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 - 161172010
EEHEL
Mr. Ku Ling Yu John 16/11/2007 110 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000 - 16/1172010
ERFLE

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2009, none of the directors
nor the chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO),
or which were required to be recorded in the register kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests
In Securities” above, at no time during the reporting period was the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debt securities, including debentures,
of the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the
directors or their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any
right to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had exercised
any such right.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2009, the interests and short positions of persons in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO or, who is, directly or indirectly, interested
in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital
carrying rights to vote on all circumstances at general meetings of
any other members of the Group, or substantial shareholders as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

(1) Long positions in the shares of the Company

Name of shareholder RER BB

Mr. Chu Hon Pong RERFE
Mr. Mo Shikang (“Mr. Mo”, Note)
Asian Allied Limited
(“Asian Allied”, Note)
Super Win Development Limited
(“Super Win", Note)
Chinese People Holdings Company
Limited (“Chinese People”, Note)

Asian Allied Limited

([Super Win] » fizt)
FRIERERAD A
([P RHER]  MiE)

Note:

As Chinese People is a subsidiary of Super Win, Super Win is deemed to have
interest in the ordinary shares of the Company (the “Shares”) held by Chinese
People for the purpose of the SFO. For the purpose of SFO, Asian Allied
is deemed to have interest in the Shares held by Super Win and Mr. Mo is
deemed to have interest in the shares held by Asian Allied.

RupREE ([Ex4) M)

([Asian Allied ] + BfiE)
Super Win Development Limited

FTERR

RIZEZNF=ZA=+—08 BERBEZSNE
EHIEXVEZ E2 R E3INBWERMARRIWENMES
ZARBED REERD 2R RAR  REEXK
BERETRASETRNEMRERRZREAS
Z— BN TR B 2 R A 2 EE
5% EZ R Z AL IREE S REEED
FI6BRMEARAEREZECMATEZEE
REWMT :

(1) REXFRBZEA
Approximate

Direct/indirect percentage of

interest shareholding

HiE BEgER ERBANESE
155,150,967 12.89%
150,000,000 12.46%
150,000,000 12.46%
150,000,000 12.46%
150,000,000 12.46%

Bkt

BRI ThSuper WinZ B AR » MUIREE S 5
BB Super WiniRIEBRARRERFIBAZARA
Betn (3280 1) e o BIBEEH REE KA - Asian Allied
R EHEASuper WinfTiB B 2 ZR M EERELEBE
{EFE B Asian AlliedfTi5 A Z MR 1 -
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(2) Long positions in the underlying shares of the Company

BREMH

Name of shareholder

Mr. Chu Hon Pong REHTE
Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2009, the directors or chief
executive officer of the Company were not aware of any other
person (other than the directors or chief executive of the Company)
who had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO or, who is, directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote on
all circumstances at general meetings of any other members of the
Group, or any other substantial shareholders whose interests or short
positions were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES
OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for
approximately 40% of the Group’s total purchases and the largest
supplier of the Group accounted for approximately 18% of the
Group's total purchases. Aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers were approximately 36% of the Group’s sales
while the largest customer of the Group accounted for approximately
35% of the Group’s sales.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the directors own more than
5% of the issued capital of the Company) had any beneficial interest
in the Group’s major suppliers and customers for the financial year
ended 31 March 20009.
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7
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COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31 March 2009, none of the directors, the management
shareholders of the company and their respective associates (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had any interest in a business
which causes or may cause a significant competition with the
business of the Group.

AUDITORS

The financial statements have been audited by NCN CPA Limited who
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment.

On behalf of the Board

Chu Hon Pong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 May 2009

BEXS

RIZZAF=ZA=+—RB FRAIZES BB
ERREBEEZAZHEAL (RAIERETRA
ZEER)REREAKEXGEERFLAALEL
BERFIEMEHEFEAELS -

7% 4]
HBERREERASTNEBMERRAAEL 2
HEAMEBAAERDAARE  EFAERRE
BEEL -

RREEE

EY:
RER

BE —ETNFRA-TLH
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT %3 #% S AR &5

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ZMAY
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Group”) set out on pages 25 to 91, which
comprise the consolidated and company balance sheets as at
31 March 2009, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
cash flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This
responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining
internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates
that are reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of
this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance as to whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 3 #% S El ¥R &5

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the
entity’s preparation and true and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company
as at 31 March 2009 and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

NCN CPA LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

20/F., Hong Kong Trade Centre,
161-167 Des Voeux Road,
Central, Hong Kong,

Hong Kong S.A.R., China

Hong Kong, 27 May 2009

NG Hoi Yue Herman
Practicing Certificate Number P01554
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT #&

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE=-ZZAE=A=1+—HILEE

2009 2008
—EENE —EENE
Note(s) HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
=3 FAERT FAT
Turnover BEHE 5(a) 55,720 29,776
Cost of sales HERK A (28,640) (28,821)
Gross profit E5 27,080 955
Other revenue and net income Hip Uz R U AF 5B 5(b) 1,588 2,322
Gain on disposal on subsidiaries ep= ) PN E 28 584 -
Gain arising from business REEBE O 2 hm
combination 27 33,551 -
Goodwill arising from business REXBEHZ
combination written off 72 2 4 5 27 (25,224) =
Administrative and other Bk EMEERT
operating expenses (37,978) (16,646)
Finance costs e 6 (717) =
Loss before tax PR Al &5 18 7 (1,116) (13,369)
Income tax Frig®i 8 (2,265) -
Loss for the year FEBE (3,381) (13,369)
Loss for the year attributable to: [EMR S E B
Equity holders of the Company NN Al ¥ S YN (6,290) (13,369)
Minority interests DHRRER 2,909 =
(3,381) (13,369)
HK cents HK cents
Bl il
Loss per share BRER 10
- Basic —H&K (0.54) (1.5)
- Diluted —E% TEA N/A TER NA
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As at 31 March 2009 R=ZZTNF=A=+—H

A

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET #<&

ERER

2009 2008
—EENE —EENE
Note(s) HK$' 000 HK$' 000
=3 FTHT FAT
Non-current assets FERBEE
Fixed assets & & E 14 151,623 135
Goodwill [ 15 29,733 =
Other intangible assets Hih A E 16 845 =
182,201 135
Current assets MEEE
Inventories RS 18 52,089 586
Trade and other receivables JRE LS BR R R L b 8 L 5 IR 20 98,655 24,449
Cash and bank balances Re KIRITHT 21 24,237 48,333
174,981 73,368
Current liabilities nEEE
Trade and other payables 1S B 3R R Lt B A< R 0E 22 81,148 1,555
Net current assets mBEE TR 93,833 71,813
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBDAE 276,034 71,948
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Long-term payables REIEN RUR 11,106 =
Net assets BEFHE 264,928 71,948
Capital and reserves R ENEE
Share capital B 7R 24 48,152 42,125
Reserves 1 25 133,058 29,823
Equity attributable to equity ARAIRATHE AEMR
holders of Company gy 181,210 71,948
Minority interests DY R R 83,718 =
Total equity TR 264,928 71,948
Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on 27 EEeERN_ZTNFRAS T LABERKER

May 2009.

Chu Hon Pong
KEH
Director

EF

26
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Director
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R Z K ER D A ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED

BALANCE SHEET EE&&%

As at 31 March 2009 R=ZZTNF=A=+—H

2009 2008
—EENE —EENE
Note(s) HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
=3 FAERT FAT
Non-current assets FERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHB AR ZRE 17 - =
Current assets MEEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries A I EPNGIE ] 19 170,549 50,024
Trade and other receivables R Ui BR R R L b B L 5 IR 20 146 18,379
Cash and bank balances BeRRITET 21 3,527 4,230
174,222 72,633
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables & A5F BR R B L fth JE A5F KT 22 61 101
Net current assets MENEE F58 174,161 72,532
Net assets BEFHE 174,161 72,532
Capital and reserves L ENEE
Share capital B 7R 24 48,152 42,125
Reserves {5 25 126,009 30,407
Total equity R R 174,161 72,532

Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on 27

May 2009.

Chu Hon Pong
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY GZa#m2 %

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE-ZZAF=A=1+—HIFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ARAREREARL
Share
Share Share  Special Translation  options Accumulated Minority Total
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve losses Total interests equity
48
kx  RGEE HARE LERE BRERE 2HEB B hkREs E&AE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS§'000  HK$'000
tér TEx TExr  TEx  TEr  TEr  TExr  TEr  TERn
At 1 April 2007 RZZE+EMA-A 30,086 34,102 (39,998) - - (8,958) 15,232 - 15,232
Loss for the year FEER = = = = - (13369)  (13,369) - (13369)
Total recognised income EERRUARLILAE
and expense for the year - - - - - (13,369)  (13,369) - (13,369)
Recognition of equity-settled ~ BRUEEAHNEER
share-based payments KR BER 2 3 - - - - 9922 - 9922 - 992
Issue of ordinary shares under ~ RERHABLTERR
share subscriptions 12,000 4177 - - - - 59,717 - 59,717
Issue of ordinary shares upon ~ RTRALH RREZ K
exercise of bonus warrants  ETTERR 39 407 - - - - 446 - 446
At 31 March 2008 R-ERNF=A=1-A
and 1 April 2008 R-2ENEMA-A 42,125 82,226 (39,998) - 9,922 (22,327) 71,948 - 71,948
Loss for the year EEER - - - - - (6290 (6290 2909 (3,381
Total recognised income EERANARR L ES
and expense for the year - - - - - (6,290) (6,290) 2,909 (3,381)
Issue of ordinary shares under ~ RERHAZLTEER
share subscriptions 6,000 110,483 - - - - 116,483 - 116,483
Issue of ordinary shares upon ~ RTRALH RREZ K
exercise of bonus warrants  BTTERR 27 285 - - - - N - N
Exchange differences arising ~ BEBNFHEEL
on translation of foreign B
operations - - - (1,243) - - (1,243) (1,205) (2,448)
Transfers upon share options 3 /£ L R iE 2 BH
cancelled/terminated - - - - (1,435) 1,435 - - -
Minority interests arisingon ¥ BAHEEZHH
business combination RRER = = = = = = - 8014 82,014
At 31 March 2009 R-2BAE=R=1-A 48152 192,994 (39,998) (1,243) 8,487 (27182) 181,210 83,718 264,928

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 3R



R Z 7R B R 2 8 ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT #&H\E&REx

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE=-ZZAE=A=1+—HILEE

2009 2008
—EENF ZTENF
Note(s) HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
Lo TET THET
Operating activities REE
Loss before tax BR B A 5 48 (1,116) (13,369)
Adjustments for: Bt TS IAELFE
Interest expenses FERZ 717 =
Interest income F 2 WA (328) (873)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARESE 2 W 28 (584) =
Gain arising on business combination EBEOEE 2= (33,551) =
Goodwill arising from business ERAHEEZBHEMS
combination written off 25,224 -
Impairment losses of other receivables HAth e W SRR (B 1B 23 =
Amortisation of other intangible assets BHEMETEE 17 =
Amortisation of leasehold land EEEE T 52 =
Depreciation of property, M BERSEBEIIE
plant and equipment 5,004 59
Equity-settled share-based PARE 23 75 A8 B R DA D
payment expenses RERZAFFAZ - 9,922
Operating loss before changes BEEHR L EEERE
in working capital (4,542) (4,261)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories HFERLD,/(3mn) (4,542) 1,281
Increase in trade and other receivables P i B R I L At R
12 (26,531) (17,720)
Increase/(decrease) in trade & 151 BR 50 I L 4t JE A5 3ROR
and other payables #m/ () 7,437 (3,528)
Net cash used in operating activities REXBHER S FH (28,178) (24,228)
Investing activities RELE
Interest received B 328 873
Purchase of property, plant BEWE  BEE&E
and equipment (10,874) (13)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMB AR 28 (9) -
Acquisition of subsidiaries W B B B A &) 27 (102,208) =
Net cash generated from/(used in) BETREBME/ (Fr#E)
investing activities H& % (112,763) 860
Financing activities BMEEE
Proceeds from issue of new BT S ARRN
ordinary shares FT{S /18 116,795 60,163
Interest paid EARFHE (50) =
Net cash generated from BMEFEHMERSFHE
financing activities 116,745 60,163
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT #R&# €

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE-ZZAF=A=1+—HIFE

mER

2009 2008
“EEAF ZEENF
Note(s) HK$'000 HK$’000
L= FTER THET
Net increase/(decrease) in RedBeFED L
cash and cash equivalents @, O d) E5 (24,196) 36,795
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INETEREE) 2 B 100 =
Cash and cash equivalents at FHzBEekREEFEY
the beginning of the year 48,333 11,538
Cash and cash equivalents ERZBEREEEEY
at the end of the year 24,237 48,333
Analysis of the balances of RekBeSENHEEIT
cash and cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances Re MBITEER 24,237 48,333
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 Bzt

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE=-ZZAE=A=1+—HILEE

GENERAL

ZMAY Holdings Limited (the “Company”), formerly known as
New Chinese Medicine Holdings Limited, was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market
("GEM") of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”).

The Company's registered office is situated at Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands, British West Indies. The Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong is situated at Room 802, Tower
|, Harbour Centre, 1 Hok Cheung Street, Hunghom, Kowloon,
Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, the functional currency of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
principally engaged in (i) the sales of healthcare products in
Hong Kong; and (i) funeral and related business in the PRC.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first
time the following amendments and interpretations (“new
HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"), which are or have become effective.

HKAS 39 & HKFRS 7 (Amendments)

BRI ERFEIVRRBEBT B RELERETHR (BFT)
HK(IFRIC) - Int 11

BB (BRI BREREZE®) -2BE IR
HK(IFRIC) = Int 12

BB (BRI BHREREZES) -RBE12%
HK(IFRIC) - Int 14

EER B ]

—RER

PREZEZERERAF ([RRFE ] - Al 5
ERARAR) REFASESARE (EEF])
RASHSEMKLA—HAXBRLERAT
HEDRBEMARZMER DA ([HRF])
B (TBIRR]) £ -

A D 7] & it = B iz A Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands, British West
Indies ° AR AEEE 2 F EEFMIAANE B
NBEABEBENE K EEF L —HH802E -

BEMBBERASRBNEEE BT -

ARAR—HREZBRRRF - ARAREKE
DR (ABAKE]) 2 EBXBAVEREH
ERBER: R(VETELEREERMEAEY -

BRAFIREETERNBHRELEAN(F
AR E R )

RAFE AEEEHERERAEAGHNLAE
(BB EHMAg]) B TIET AR
(T#HETEBMBHREEA])  AFETRRE
RESCKER -

Reclassification of Financial Assets

CREEENHH

HKFRS 2 — Group and Treasury Share Transactions
SEAE2R -KEREBRNHZ S

Service Concession Arrangements

MRS 4E = 1 2 HF

HKAS 19 — The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum

Funding Requirements and their Interaction

1mo

EE(ERMBREREZES) -2EF 1450

\

BEREHENF 1R -—ARENZEEZRE  REEXRHTER
HAERBE

The application of the new HKFRSs has no material effect RNZEME BB B RE RSN REE K
on how the results and financial position for the current or EWRAHHAKABT ST HE 2 FERM B
prior accounting periods have been prepared and presented. MR mEARTLE - Al EEH B ARE
Accordingly, no prior period adjustment has been required. THE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 Bzt

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE-ZZAF=A=1+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
standards, amendments or interpretations that have been issued

but are not yet effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments)
BAUBREER (B])

HKAS 1 (Revised)

BB EE1R (KBE])
HKAS 23 (Revised)

BB G ERE235 (L)
HKAS 27 (Revised)
BAELFEAE275% (KIEE])
HKAS 32 & 1 (Amendments)
ABEFEAERREBEGHENE1R (BT
HKAS 39 (Amendment)

BB ERE39% (B5])

HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27 (Amendments)

AR BREENE IR RBEBSHERE27% (BF])

HKFRS 1 (Revised)

BENBEREENE 1R (KEBET)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

BAETBREENE2% (BE])

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

BEMBmE LR E35% (KIEFT)

HKFRS 7 (Amendment)

AETBEEENETR (BE])

HKFRS 8

BAETBREERESH

HK(IFRIC) = Int 9 and HKAS 39 (Amendments)

a5 (BB B REEARELZESY)
—ZRERREB G EREIR (BFT)

HK(IFRIC) = Int 13

AL (RN BERELENRBZEE)-REE13%

HK(IFRIC) = Int 15

BA(HRUBRESENREZEY) -—2EE15%

HK(IFRIC) - Int 16

BA(BRMBREENREZES) —2F

HK(IFRIC) = Int 17

AL (ERMBERELENRBZER)-REE1TH

HK(IFRIC) - Int 18

BA(BRUBRESENREZEY) -—2EE185%

i

165

2. BEFTREETEENBREEL(E
BEE SR ]) (&

AKEYERERER TS EMERRERLZ
B R BT ER BT ERRE -

Improvements to HKFRSs"

BEMBREEL 2 BED

Presentation of Financial Statements®

258 B #wK

Borrowing Costs®?

E

Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements®
maRBUMBEHRRS

Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation®
BREACZIAECRIARER?

Eligible hedged items®

BERHMIERG

Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or
Associate®

R—RMBAR  BaEHEBEE N FRE KA
First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards®
BERARMEBARNBREERS

Vesting Conditions and Cancellations?

5B IR Rt 352

Business Combinations®

RBEHO

Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments®
HERHEMIAZHEE?

Operating Segments®

EE D H

Embedded Derivatives“

BRAPTHETA®

Customer Loyalty Programmes'®

BBt Ee

Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate®
FHERES R

Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation®
BINEBREFE 2 HHO

Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners®
AEFREEETHEAAD

Transfers of Assets from Customers?

BXFBBEE"
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(continued)

(" Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009 except for the amendments to HKFRS 5, effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009

®)  Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2009

@ Effective for annual periods ending on or after 30 June
2009

©) Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2008

©  Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October
2008

7 Effective for transfer of assets from customers received on
or after 1 July 2009

The application of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the accounting
for business combination for which the acquisition date is
on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period
beginning on or after 1 July 2009. HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect
the accounting treatment for changes in a parent’s ownership
interest in a subsidiary. The directors of the Company anticipate
that the application of the other new and revised standards,
amendments or interpretations will have no material impact on
the results and the financial position of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
which collectively include all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Growth Enterprise Market of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE-ZZAF=A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
These financial statements have been prepared using the
historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments
which are measured at fair values.

A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the
Group is set out below.

(a) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated income statement
from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective
date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by other members of the Group.

All'intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated on consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s
equity therein. Minority interests consist of the amount
of those interests at the date of the original business
combination and the minority’s share of changes in equity
since the date of the combination. Losses applicable to
the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the
subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the
Group except to the extent that the minority has a binding
obligation and is able to make an additional investment to
cover the losses.

TESTEHER(A)
HERRERAELRARERE  ETR
DNEFFEZM BT AR

AEERAZERNGHHEBERIIMT -

(a) H#EREEE
EAMBBREEARAREKBEA
BERE -

2l

2

RAFEMEREILECHBLRAZE
B HEREBRERREEREER L
(REBBRAME) st AGFABEAER °

MERE  KesMBLRANBERRAEL
HAE REHESHABRERAEBREMKE
AEFMEREER B

FEEBARRRIRS &R RAR
FXRERE KB REHHE -

GAMBARZEEFER 2D HIRRE
m RARE WA REDHEN - BEF
BRAZPERREZBENREHAHA
MeBTRETERBAMH UKD &
BREREREE - PERREEER
il - Gy U =PNGIN R N - i
EH BHEASEERELIR D
BRREBHORNETEBRAELE
RENERMERRERI

K 3F
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. FESTEREKE)
(b) Business combinations (b) EHSH

The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the
purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured
at the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange,
of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the
business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities, that meet the conditions
for recognition under HKFRS 3 Business Combinations,
are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date,
except for non-current assets (or disposal groups), that are
classified as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations,
which are recognised and measured at fair value less costs
to sell.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset
and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost
of the business combination over the Group's interest in
the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment,
the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is
initially measured at the minority’s proportion of the net
fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
recognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE-ZZAF=A=1+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

(d)

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisition
over the Group's interest in the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the
subsidiary, associate or jointly controlled entity recognised
at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is initially recognised as
an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Capitalised goodwill on
acquisitions of subsidiaries is presented separately.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the relevant cash-generating units, or groups of
cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the acquisition. Cash-generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the
unit(s) may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit(s) is less than the carrying amount of
the unit(s), the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit(s)
first, and then to the other assets of the unit(s) pro-rata
on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit(s). Any impairment for goodwill is recognised directly
in the consolidated income statement. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, an associate or a
jointly controlled entity, the attributable carrying amount of
capitalised goodwill is included in the determination of the
amount of gain or loss on disposal.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is entity controlled by the Company. Control
exits when the Company has the power, directly or
indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies
of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In
assessing control, potential voting rights that are currently
exercisable are taken into account.

In the Company’s balance sheet, investments in subsidiaries
are stated at cost less any impairment loss, unless the
investment(s) is/are classified as held for sale.

3.

TESTHERA

(c)

(d)
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(e) Non-current assets held for sales

()

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing
use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is
highly probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available
for immediate sale in its present condition.

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held
for sale are measured at the lower of the assets’ (disposal
groups’) previous carrying amount and fair value less costs
to sell.

Revenue recognition

Revenue, which is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable, is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the revenue can be measured reliably, on the following
bases:

(i) Sales income is recognised when goods are delivered
and title has passed.

(i) Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis,
by reference to the principal outstanding using the
effective interest method.

(iii) Dividend income from investments is recognised
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(9)

(h)

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

Assets held under finance leases are recognized as assets
of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the
lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum
lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is
included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation.
Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges
and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability. Finance charges are charged directly to profit or
loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying
assets, in which case they are capitalized in accordance with
the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to
enter into an operating lease are recognised as a reduction
of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-line
basis.

Interest in leasehold land is amortised over the lease term
on a straight-line basis.

Foreign currencies

The individual financial statements of each group entity
are presented in the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (its functional
currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial
statements, the results and financial position of each entity
are expressed in Hong Kong dollars, which is the functional
currency of the Company and the presentation currency for
the consolidated financial statements.

3.
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gé—h&ﬂi (//E
(h) 5 (&)

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3.
(h) Foreign currencies (continued)

In preparing the financial statements of the individual RREEERB HBRERE  UZERZ
entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s NEEEB AN B8 (INE) TR G
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recorded DEXZGEHEREZAR REEE

at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are included in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise, except for exchange difference arising on a
monetary item forms part of the Company’s net investment
in a foreign operation, in which case, such exchange
differences are recognized in equity in the consolidated
financial statements. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value
are included in profit or loss for the period except for
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised
directly in equity, in which cases, the exchange differences
are also recognised directly in equity.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are expressed in Hong Kong dollars using
exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date.
Income and expense items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates
fluctuated significantly during that period, in which case,
the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as
equity and transferred to the Group's translation reserve.
Such translation differences are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(h) Foreign currencies (continued)

(i)

1)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable net
assets arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the rate prevailing on the balance sheet date.
Exchange differences arising are included in the translation
reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalized as part of
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Termination benefits are recognized when, and only when,
the Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate
employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary
redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which is
without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

Share options granted to employees are accounted for in
accordance with the policies set out in note 3(r)(i)(1).

3.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. FESHBEKE
(k) Taxation (k) ®iE

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
income statement because it excludes items of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it
further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial
statements and the corresponding tax base used in the
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for
using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill
or from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or
the asset is realized, based on tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit or loss, except
when it relates to items charged or credited directly to
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in
equity.
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE-ZZAF=A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, after taking into account of
their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-line
method over their estimated useful lives, at the following
rates:

Buildings Over the shorter of the
remaining period of
lease term or 30 years

5% - 10% per annum

5% — 33 /3% per annum

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and
equipment

Motor vehicles 5% —20% per annum

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their

expected useful lives on the same basis as owned assets or,

where shorter, the term of the relevant lease.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item) is included in the income
statement in the period in which the item is derecognised.

Construction in progress, which represents assets under
construction, is stated at cost less impairment loss, if
any. When the assets are completed and ready for use,
the carrying amount of the assets will be reclassified
to property, plant and equipment and depreciated in
accordance with the policy as set out above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 Bzt

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE=-ZZAE=A=1+—HILEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. FESHEE(E)
(m) Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (m) EREE (BEKRIHN)

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred. Expenditure
on development activities is capitalised if the product
or process is technically and commercially feasible and
the Group has sufficient resources and the intent ion to
complete development. The expenditure capitalised includes
the costs of materials, direct labour, and an appropriate
proportion of overheads and borrowing costs, where
applicable. Capitalised development costs are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Other development expenditure is
recognised as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group with
finite useful lives are stated in the balance sheet at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and
brands is recognised as an expense in the period in which it
is incurred.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives
is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the assets’ estimated useful lives. Period and method of
amortisation are reviewed annually.

Intangible assets are not amortised while their useful lives
are assessed to be indefinite. Any conclusion that the useful
life of an intangible asset is indefinite is reviewed annually
to determine whether events and circumstances continue to
support the indefinite useful life assessment for that asset.
If they do not, the change in the useful life assessment
from indefinite to finite is accounted for prospectively from
the date of change and in accordance with the policy for
amortisation of intangible assets with finite lives as set out
above.
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE-ZZAF=A=1+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(n) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other

than goodwill

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant
asset is carried at a revalued amount under other standard,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as revaluation
decrease under that standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the
relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under other
standard, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss
is treated as a revaluation increase under that standard.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim financial report
prepared in compliance with HKAS 34 Interim Financial
Reporting are not reversed at the end of the financial
year to which the interim period relates even if no loss,
or a smaller loss, would have been recognised had the
impairment been assessed only at the end of that financial
year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 Bzt

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE=-ZZAE=A=1+—HILEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o)

(p)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises purchase price and direct expenses
that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the
first-in-first-out method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less all estimated expenses to be incurred in marketing,
selling and distribution.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized
on the consolidated balance sheet when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss are recognized immediately
in profit or loss.

(i)~ Financial assets

The Group‘s financial assets are classified into one of
the four categories, including financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, loans and receivables,
held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale
financial assets. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognized and derecognized on
a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales
are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace. The
accounting policies adopted in respect of each category
of financial assets are set out below.
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE-ZZAF=A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(p) Financial instruments (continued)
(i) Financial assets (continued)

(1) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
has two subcategories, including financial assets
held for trading and those designated as at fair
value through profit or loss on initial recognition.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the
purpose of selling in the near future; or

e it is a part of and identified portfolio of
financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

e it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held
for trading may be designated as at fair value
through profit or loss upon initial recognition if:

e such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

e the financial asset forms part of a group
of financial assets or financial liabilities or
both, which is managed and its performance
is evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with the Group’s documented
risk management or investment strategy, and
information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

e it forms part of a contract containing one or
more embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39
permits the entire combined contract (asset
or liability) to be designated as at fair value
through profit or loss.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognized directly in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise. The net
gain on loss recognized in profit or loss includes
any dividend or interest earned on the financial
assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 Bzt

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(p) Financial instruments (continued)
(i) Financial assets (continued)

(2)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. At
each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition, loans and receivables (including trade
receivables, loan receivables, other receivables and
bank balances) are carried at amortized cost using
the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses.

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturities that the Group's
management has the positive intention and ability
to hold to maturity. At each balance sheet date
subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity
investments are measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated or not
classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and receivables or held-to-
maturity investments. At each balance sheet
date subsequent to initial recognition, available-
for-sale financial assets are measured at fair
value. Changes in fair value are recognized in
equity, until the financial asset is disposed of or
is determined to be impaired, at which time, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in
equity is removed from equity and recognized in
profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE-ZZAF=A=1+—HIFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(p) Financial instruments (continued)

0]

(i)

Financial assets (continued)

(4) Available-for-sale financial assets (continued)
For available-for-sale equity investments that
do not have a quoted market price in an active
market and whose fair value cannot be reliably
measured and derivatives that are linked to and
must be settled by delivery of such unquoted
equity instruments, they are measured at cost less
any identified impairment losses at each balance
sheet date subsequent to initial recognition.

Financial assets are derecognized when the rights
to receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the
financial assets are transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial assets. On derecognition of
a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognized directly in equity is
recognized in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument. An equity instrument is any contract that
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the group
after deducting all of its liabilities. The Group’s financial
liabilities are generally classified into financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss and other financial
liabilities. The accounting policies adopted in respect of
financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.
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7R % 7R B R & & ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(p) Financial instruments (continued)
(i) Financial liabilities (continued)
(1) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or

loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss has two subcategories, including financial
liabilities held for trading and those designated
as at fair value through profit or loss on initial
recognition.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading
if:

e it has been acquired principally for the
purpose of repurchasing in the near future; or

e it is a part of and identified portfolio of
financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

e it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability
held for trading may be designated as at fair value
through profit or loss upon initial recognition if:

e such designation eliminates or significantly
reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

e the financial liability forms part of a group
of financial assets or financial liabilities or
both, which is managed and its performance
is evaluated on a fair value basis, in
accordance with the Group’s documented
risk management or investment strategy, and
information about the grouping is provided
internally on that basis; or

e it forms part of a contract containing one or
more embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39
permits the entire combined contract (asset
or liability) to be designated as at fair value
through profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE=-ZZAE=A=1+—HILEE
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For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE-ZZAF=A=1+—HIFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. FESTHE(E)
(p) Financial instruments (continued) (p) BHITE(E)
(i) Financial liabilities (continued) (i) HMHEEEE)

(iif)

(1) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss (continued)
At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition, financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are measured at fair value,
with changes in fair value recognized directly in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit and loss
includes any interest paid on the financial liability.

(2) Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities (including bank and
other borrowings, trade and other payables) are
subsequently measured at amortized cost, using
the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised
in profit or loss.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the Company that contain
both the liability and conversion option components
are classified separately into respective items on initial
recognition. Conversion option will be settled by
the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s
own equity instruments is an equity instrument.

On initial recognition, the fair value of the liability
component is determined using the prevailing market
interest rate of similar non-convertible debts. The
difference between the proceeds of the issue of the
convertible bonds and the fair value assigned to the
liability component, representing the conversion option
for the holder to convert the convertible bonds into
equity, is included in equity (convertible bonds equity
reserve).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 iRzt

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE=-ZZAE=A=1+—HILEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. FESHEE(E)
(p) Financial instruments (continued) (p) BB IR (E)
(i) Convertible bonds (continued) (iii) AR EF ()

(iv)

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible bonds is carried at amortized cost using
the effective interest method. The equity component,
representing the option to convert the liability
component into ordinary shares of the Company,
will remain in convertible bonds equity reserve until
the conversion option is exercised (in which case the
balance stated in convertible bonds equity reserve
will be transferred to share premium). Where the
option remains unexercised at the expiry date, the
balance stated in convertible bonds equity reserve
will be released to the retained profits. No gain or
loss is recognized in profit or loss upon conversion or
expiration of the option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and
equity components in proportion to the allocation of
the proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity
component are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included
in the carrying amount of the liability component and
amortized over the period of the convertible bonds
using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognized and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognized in profit or loss on purchases, sale,
issue on cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.
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B AL R A BAT AT E R
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& BALEBAARZAFRAT
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Financial guarantees, provisions and contingent

liabilities

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the
original or modified terms of a debt instrument. A financial
guarantee contract issued by the Group and not designated
as at fair value through profit or loss is recognized initially
at its fair value less transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issue of the financial guarantee contract.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contact at the higher of: (i) the
amount determined in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets; and (ii)
the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with
HKAS 18 Revenue.

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present
obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where
the time value of money is material, provisions are stated at
the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Present obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability
where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation or the
amount of the obligation cannot be measured with
sufficient reliably. Possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
event(s) is also disclosed as a contingent liability unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

3.

TESTEHER(A)
() #¥EE BRERIAREE

HBERBDERETE B ARERER
TAZRB SR 3R - 3%
TERXNEESBERHAANBERAR
BXBRZAN -AKECHARYI TR
BRVEF ABRRMBEEREONE
NRFHERBTHBERSOZEREN
RHERER - RFHERK KRB
(MZIREE G ERIEITHR[BE AR
ERIREEI|BE 2 RIS HER
ZEFR (EAER) RRBESHENSE
185 [ Wi | R Rt EME R 28R
B EMBEREQ -

EARERBESHMARERER - &
RGAAEFERLEEMNRABITEE
RA SR FTRELZERT - #ET
PARERR - AR REEEBEAX - Bl
BRERERETAEEZRAXZRET R
BE o

fisd & AR BE TR E M R B & A BT
BEEREEZKBLATURS A EM
AR BB ZEEERRARETUR
BE-ABEEMMELRGFAERES R
REBARREMHZFELATFEER 2T
REUEBEETERAARBETIARER - KRk
M E N2 2 ATREIERR DR - RIS E R ©
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(r) Share-based payment transactions
(i)  Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

W)

Share options granted to employees

For share options granted to employees, the fair
value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the
grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, with a corresponding increase
in equity (share options reserve).

At each balance sheet date, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to ultimately vest. The effect of the
change in estimate, if any, is recognized in profit
or loss with a corresponding adjustment to share
options reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognized in share options
reserve will be transferred to share premium.
When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry
date, the amount previously recognized in share
options reserve will be transferred to retained
profits.

Share options granted to suppliers

For share options granted to suppliers in exchange
for goods or services, they are measured at the fair
value of the goods or services received. The fair
values of the goods or services are recognized as
expenses immediately, unless the goods or services
qualify for recognition as assets. Corresponding
adjustments have been made to equity (share
options reserve).

(i) Cash-settled share-based payment transactions

For cash-settled share-based payments, the Group
measures the goods or services acquired and the
liability incurred at the fair value of the liability. At each
balance sheet date, the liability is remeasured at its fair
value until the liability is settled, with any changes in
fair value recognized in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s)

(t)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

() The party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (1) controls, is controlled by, or is under
common control with, the Group; (2) has an interest
in the Group that gives it significant influence over the
Group; or (3) has joint control over the Group;

(i) The party is an associate;
(i) The party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(iv) The party is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or its parent;

(v) The party is a close member of the family of any
individual referred to in (i) or (iv); or

(vi) The party is an entity that is controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by or for which
significant voting power in such entity resides, with
directly or indirectly, any individual referred to in (iv) or

(v).

Segment reporting

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group
that is engaged either in providing products or services
(business segment), or in providing products or services
within a particular economic environment (geographical
segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are
different from those of other segments.

In accordance with the Group’'s internal financial
reporting system, the Group has chosen business
segment information as the primary reporting format
and geographical segment information as the secondary
reporting format for the purposes of these financial
statements.

TESEBEK ()
(s) EEEAL

(t)

TIHALHREREAEERRE

() ZATERIBEEZE—EXZEF
NHBEHNAKE  IAKEZEH
FEAEEZARES  QBBAE
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(i) FATAEFEHER

(iv) ZFATRARERESRFRAZEIEE
BAR:

(v) ZAT AR (v)IET AT EREA Z
BUREKE

(Vi) RATR—HERLEERZ(v)Z(V)E
o R 2 A B A R ) S R
K (iv)S(v)IR P 2 ] B A B 3k
BRUZERTEEATEIRAEAX
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2 EBHRE
DR AR B A — A = R HE m RS
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 3. FEESTEREKAE)
(t) Segment reporting (continued) (t) PHMw®E (&)

Segment revenue, expenses, results, assets and liabilities
include items directly attributable to a segment as well
as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis to
that segment. For example, segment assets may include
inventories, trade receivables and property, plant and
equipment. Segment revenue, expenses, assets and
liabilities are determined before intra-group balances and
intra-group transactions are eliminated as part of the
consolidation process, except to the extent that such intra-
group balances and transactions are between group entities
within a single segment. Inter-segment pricing is based on
similar terms as those available to other external parties.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred
during the period to acquire segment assets (both tangible
and intangible) that are expected to be used for more than
one period.

Unallocated items mainly comprise financial and corporate
assets, interest-bearing loans, borrowings, tax balances,
corporate and financing expenses.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS

(a) Judgments
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations as discussed below, which
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the financial statements.

(i) Impairment of assets

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the
event previously causing the impairment no longer
exists, the management has to exercise judgment in
the area of asset impairment, particularly in assessing:
(1) whether an event has occurred that may effect the
asset value or such event affecting the asset value has
not been in existence; (2) whether the carrying value
of an asset can be supported by net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon
the continued use of the asset or derecognition; and
(3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in
preparing cash flow projections including whether
these cash flow projections are discounted using
an appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions
selected by management to determine the level of
impairment, including the discount rates or the growth
rate assumptions in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the net present value used in the
impairment test.

4. BRGHMETRAE

(a) #E
RERAEE @ RERE  RFRTX
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

4. BRGMEITRAE (F)

(a) Judgments (continued) (a) Hir (&)
(i) Income taxes (i) Az

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the balance sheet date
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses carried forward to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profits will be available against
which the unused tax losses can be utilised, based on
all available evidence. Recognition primarily involves
judgement regarding the future performance of
the particular legal entity or tax group in which the
deferred tax asset has been recognised. A variety of
other factors are also evaluated in considering whether
there is convincing evidence that it is probable that
some portion or all or the deferred tax assets will
ultimately be realised, such as the existence of taxable
temporary differences, tax planning strategies and the
periods in which estimated tax losses can be utilised.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets and related
financial models and budgets are reviewed at each
balance sheet date and to the extent that there is
insufficient convincing evidence that sufficient taxable
profits will be available within the utilization periods
to allow utilisation of the carry forward tax losses,
the asset balance will be reduced and charged to the
income statement.
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(b) Estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the Group’s assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

(i) Impairment test of assets

The management determines whether an asset is
impaired at least on an annual basis or where an
indication of impairment exists. This requires an
estimation of the value in use of the asset. Estimating
the value in use requires the management to make
an estimate of the expected future cash flows from
the assets and also to choose a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows.

(i) Income taxes

The management reviews the carrying amount of
deferred tax assets, if any, at each balance sheet date
and reduces the amount to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets
to be utilised. This requires an estimation of the future
taxable profits. Estimating the future taxable profits
requires the management to make an estimate of the
expected future earnings of the Group and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of the earnings.

(iii) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives,
after taking into account of their estimated residual
value. The determination of the useful lives and
residual values involve management’s estimation.
The management assesses annually the residual
value and the useful life of the property, plant and
equipment and if the expectation differs from the
original estimate, such a difference may impact the
depreciation in the year when the estimate is changed
and the future period.

4. ARG EITRAE ()
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5. REVENUE

(@) An analysis of the Group’s turnover for the year is as

follows:

I 3

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE=-ZZAE=A=1+—HILEE

(@) AKBFAZEXEINMT

2009 2008

—EENE —ZETNF

HK$'000 HK$' 000

FTHRT FAT

Sales of healthcare products HEREEM 19,566 29,776
Funeral and related business Bz R AEEER 36,154 =
55,720 29,776

(b) An analysis of the Group’s other revenue and net income

for the year is as follows:

(o) AEBEARH U R AFFES TR
N

2009 2008
—EENE ZTENF
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
FER FHET
Interest income FEWA 328 873
Net foreign exchange gain N Ui 250 58 1,109 =
Sundry income U A 151 1,449
1,588 2,322
6. FINANCE COSTS 6. BHEH

2009 2008
—EENE —ZENF
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
THERT FHET

Interest expense on bank and other ERAFANBEHERRT

borrowings wholly repayable R E b tg &I S FH X

within five years 50 -

Imputed interest expense on ER B BN T2
capitalised land lease payments HER SR 667 =
717 -
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7. LOSS BEFORE TAX

Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging:

BR Bt B & 18

BRERAMEEES MR TSR :

2009 2008
—EENE ZTTN\F
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
FEx FHET
Staff costs (including directors’ emoluments) B TR A (BHEESZHE)
— salaries and allowances — & MoERL 13,657 2,920
- equity-settled share-based payments — ARG EE R AR )
RER 2K - 2,849
— contributions to defined contributions — AR EHFRKE N ETEI R
retirement benefits schemes 659 74
14,316 5,843
Auditors’ remuneration %S RN E ©
— audit services —Ei R 730 200
— other services — H i R %5 2,260 =
Amortisation of leasehold land BEEE T 52 =
Amortisation of other intangible assets BHEMELEE 17 =
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ - BiE M REFE 5,004 59
Operating lease rentals in respect FERHENE s REHERS
of rented premises 1,531 130
Carrying amount of inventories sold EEREZEREE 28,640 28,821
Carrying amount of inventories written off ~ HiEF & Z BREE 588 =
Other equity-settled share-based payments  Efth SA#E 25 75 S\ & & K AR D
- consultants’ fees RERZAF-EBHRER - 7,073
Impairment losses of other receivables H fth FE W RIE 2 BB 23 =
8. INCOME TAX Fr g%t
2009 2008
—EENF ZEENF
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FER THET
Hong Kong profits tax BBHEH - =
PRC enterprise income tax B ERTER 2,265 =
Deferred tax BT - -
2,265 -

No Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for as the Group
has no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for the year

(2008: Nil).

ARAKRERAERY BETEELRRL
M BUBERENEHEE(CTTNEE)
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8.

INCOME TAX (continued)

PRC enterprise income tax has been provided for at the rate of

8. FNiE% (&)

25% on the estimated assessable profits arising in the PRC. 25%% RET H B o

No deferred tax has been recognised for the year as there are
no material temporary differences which will result in a liability
to be payable in the foreseeable future and the stream of

taxable profits which will be available to utilize the tax losses is

unpredictable.

The tax for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit/

(loss) as follows:

FREXRMEHERTFRELERRTEMZ

AR Y EEAERZ RS HER R HREXN
BfE BEZEAT AEREREBE R
BORHNRE - SER Y BHEZELEHE -

AEEHEMN (BB HRZFEHRENT :

2009 2008
—EENE ZTENF
HK$'000 HK$' 000
TET FHET
Loss before tax BRI ER (1,116) (13,369)
Notional tax credit/(charge) on profit/(loss)  BREADGF/ (EE) 2B EHERE,/
before tax, calculated at the tax rates (AX) - BB R ARG
applicable to profit in the jurisdictions HERANRAE
concerned (961) 2,340
Tax effect of income not taxable BERMBA 2 B2 2,466 153
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AR A RN AR 2
and losses not allowable RiEg 2 16 (2,162)
Tax effect of estimated tax losses AEREAREBEZH B E
not recognised (3,778) (554)
Tax effect of utilization of tax losses not BRAARRNERNBER CHIBER 2
previously recognised M EE - 219
Tax effect of temporary differences ABEREREZR I RBE
not recognised (8) 4
Income tax credit/(charge) FssiEe,/ (Ax) (2,265) =
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9.

10.

LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY 9. ARAEEREARLFERR
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
2009 2008
—EENE ZTTN\F
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
FTERr FHET
Amount of consolidated profit/(loss) RARE B MEEIE 2 B
attributable to equity shareholders dealt BAAEGEGE ST, (BB)
with in the company's financial statements &8 (7,690) (10,725)
Secretarial service fees charged by subsidiary BB A AW 2 W R&E & (50) (50)
Management fees charged by subsidiary BB A ﬂHSZHXZ BE (780) (780)
Impairment losses recognised on amounts T FE B B A R BRI RE R
due from subsidiaries HEEE (6,646) =
Impairment losses reversed on amounts FIEUHTE A RIHRIB 2R E
due from subsidiaries EEEE - 7,515
Company'’s loss for the year (note 25) ARz FEBE (KFE25) (15,166) (4,040)
LOSS PER SHARE 10. BREE

The basic loss per share is calculated based on the loss
attributable to equity holders of the Company of approximately
HK$6,290,000 (2008: approximately HK$13,369,000) and
the weighted average number of 1,159,740,349 (2008:
895,834,747) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The diluted loss per share has not been disclosed for the years
ended 31 March 2009 and 31 March 2008 as the share options
and warrants outstanding during these years had an anti-dilutive
effect on the basic loss per share for these years.

AR REREBEARGZEREREE
TREFAZAANAEZTE ARMGE
A B8 #46,290,0008 T (ZEZENE : 4
13,369,000/8 L) & B BT L @M < ¥
201,159,740 349Hx (ZZZ )\ 4 : 859,834,747
HX)jt@HXu 5

HRBZE-TTAF=A=1T—BR-ZTTN
E‘H_Jr B IEF 2 SR RTTE R B B &
REEEHRZEFEERENBEAREEN
% Rty BRI ZEFELERETER -
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11. DIVIDEND 11. KE
No dividend has been paid during the year nor proposed for the REBWEREREZZRERE (ZTENE:
year (2008: Nil). ) o
12. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS 12. ¥ RHHESE
The Group’s primary segment information is presented by AEENFESREHREBSPBENAXER
business segments and secondary segment information is RRESHEERZMESENFTANEM® - AR
presented by geographical segments. During the current and FERBAFEA  TEFFAI>ERRS o
prior years, there were no inter-segment transactions.
(i) Business segments (i) ¥%28
The Group is currently organised into two business AEERBEBSRMEEK IR
segments:
Sale of healthcare Retail and wholesale business HERBEM REEMTER
products on sale of healthcare products # BB
Funeral and related Retail business on sale e RS ERNTEEBR
businesses of grave plots and provision REEER
of funeral and related services 18 7 AR 75
The following table presents revenue, results and certain TREJNDREEZEZTNER=ZZZN
assets, liabilities and expenditure information for the FZAZ+—HLEFEAEEEB B
Group's business segments for respective years ended 31 Wa « RERETEE  BERAZEH -
March 2009 and 2008.
Sale of healthcare Funeral and
products related businesses Total
HERRER BEREBER @zt
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
“EEAE ZET)\E CEBBAE CZZT/\E ZBBAE —EI)\F
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
TEn TAn TEn TAT TR TAT
Revenue from external customers ~ RESNREFH R E 19,566 29,776 36,154 - 55,720 29,776
Segment results PEEE (851) (336) 5,855 - 5,004 (336)
Gain arising from business EBAHEE N
combination - - 33,551 - 33,551 -
Goodwill arising from business ERAMEL CBENS
combination written off - - (25,224) - (25,224) -
Unallocated corporate income KB ERUA 601 2,167
Unallocated corporate expenses AEEBRR (14,331) (15,200)
Finance costs HBER (117 -
Income tax FrEH (2,265) -
Loss for the year EEER (3381)  (13.369)
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12. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS

12, ¥ RMEDE (&)

(continued)
(i) Business segments (continued) (i) %28 (&)
Sale of healthcare Funeral and
products related businesses Total
HERRER BEREBES @t
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEERE —ZT)/\F ZBEAE —ZE\F CZEBAE _ST)\E
HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000 HK$' 000
THER THT TR THL THr THL
Segment assets PEREE 8,516 30,611 314,685 - 323,201 30,611
Goodwil HE - = 29,733 - 29733 -
Unallocated assets APBEE 4,248 42,89
Total assets BEBE 357,182 73,503
Segment liabilities FEAE 443 801 91,649 - 92,092 801
Unallocated liabilities FAHEER 162 754
Total liabilities RERE 92,254 1,555
Capital expenditure ERRR 2 13 10,847 - 10,874 13
Depreciation and amortization e REH 8 8 5,065 - 5,073 8
(i) Geographical segments (i) HELE

The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong and the
PRC.

The following table presents the Group's turnover by
geographical markets, irrespective of origin of the goods,
the carrying amounts of segment assets and the capital
expenditure, analysed by the geographical areas in which
the assets are located.

Turnover by

AEBEBURBERTHE -

TREJNEMEHENED I 2 AEEE

XBEON (THEm

REH)

REEMHE

WEMENNZ D BEEERAEREARRH

¥ o

Carrying amounts of

geographical markets segment assets Capital expenditure
RUBNES B EXR PREEREE BABX
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEENE ZEE/\E ZBBAE -EZE\E ZEEAE —ER\F
HK$' 000 HK$" 000 HKS'000 HK$" 000 HKS' 000 HK$" 000
TERL THR TERL TAL TER TAL
Hong Kong Bk 19,566 29,776 12,764 73,503 27 13
PRC G 36,154 - 344418 - 10,847 -
55,720 29,776 357,182 73,503 10,874 13
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1B.EEZRIZREFREEZHE

(i) E=M<
ENSEMNAARSESZHEOT

13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS
(i) Directors’ emoluments
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the Company’s

directors are as follows:

Contributions

Salaries Share- to retirement
and other based benefits
2009 Fees benefits ~ payments schemes Total
H4R IR 5 BAREA
ZEENE e Bz EEZRA HE g
HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000 HKS' 000 HK$' 000
TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn
Executive directors: YITES:
Mr. Chu Hon Pong RERKE - 1,308 - 12 1,320
Ms. Tong Pui Chi Lucia ERZNE - 527 - 12 539
Mr. Law Kwok Chung EEBEE - 526 - 12 538
Mr. Li Heguo FRERE
(resigned on 15 December 2008) (RZEENETZATHAEMR) - 720 - 9 729
Mr. Li Junhong FREEE
(resigned on 15 December 2008) (RZEENETZATHAEMR) - 360 - 8 368
Mr. An Jinping RBTRE
(resigned on 15 December 2008) (RZEENETZATHAER) - 80 - 4 84
Mr. Wong Ching IBEE
(appointed on 29 December 2008 &  (M=TENF+ZAZTNAEZf
resigned on 6 March 2009) RR-SENEZRABE) - 100 - - 100
Mr. Liu Jing A%k
(resigned on 6 March 2009) (R=ZENEZ A BEE) 10 995 - 9 1,014
Dr. Neil Kai Gu Bil AL
(re-designated from non-executive (RZEZNETZAZtNA
director to executive director BFATESHTANNES)
on 29 December 2008) - 40 - - 40
Non-executive director: FunES:
Dr. Neil Kai Gu Bil AL
(re-designated from non-executive (RZEZNETZAZtNA
director to executive director BFATESATANNES)
on 29 December 2008) 180 - - - 180
Independent non-executive BUkNTES:
directors:
Mr. Chu Kar Wing REREE 102 - - - 102
Dr. Loke Hoi Lam EgmEL 102 - - - 102
Mr. Ku Ling Yu John ERFELE 102 - - - 102
Total @5t 496 4,656 - 66 5218
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES'
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(i) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

13. ESRIEREHREZHME (H)

() EsM= (&)

R EIE:

Contributions
Salaries Share-  to retirement
and other based benefits
2008 Fees benefits payments schemes Total
Hek R A RIRER
ZZI)\F e Efpfle  ERz&A FE 5%
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
TATL TATL TATL TATL TATL
Executive directors: HrES:
Mr. Wong Chun Keung BERLE
(resigned on 21 January 2008) (RZZENF-A=T—HEf) - = = = =
Mr. Wong Mo Wah Gordon FrEE
(resigned on 21 January 2008) (RZZENF-A=T—HEf) - 88 - 5 93
Mr. Fung Cheuk Nang Clement BEGTE
(resigned on 9 October 2007) (R=TELETANERT) - = = = =
Ms. Tong Pui Chi Lucia BB - 445 708 12 1,165
Mr. Ng Tin Shui RRERE
(resigned on 9 October 2007) (RZ22+E+ANART) - - = - -
Mr. Liu Jing A%k
(appointed on 21 January 2008) (W=ZENF-A=T—-REZf) - 236 - 3 239
Mr. Li Junhong B REE
(appointed on 21 January 2008) (W=ZENF-A=T—-HEZf) - 9% - 3 97
Mr. Law Kwok Chung REBLE
(appointed on 21 January 2008) (W=ZENF-A=T—-REZf) - 9% - 2 9%
Mr. An Jinping RRTRE
(appointed on 9 October 2007) (R-ZZTLE+ANBEZRT) - 21 - 1 25
Mr. Li Heguo ZREEE
(appointed on 9 October 2007) (R=EZ+E+ANBEZA) - 141 708 3 852
Mr. Chu Hon Pong RERLE
(appointed on 9 October 2007) (R=EZLETANBEZE) - 236 - 3 239
Non-executive director: FUTES:
Dr. Nel Kai Gu BIkEL
(appointed on 21 January 2008) (R=EENF-A-T-HEZf) 47 - - - 47
Independent non-executive BUFHTES:
directors:
Mr. Chu Kar Wing RE&RE % - 9% - 190
Dr. Loke Hoi Lam BEgHE L % - 9% - 190
Mr. Ku Ling Yu John ERELE % - 9 - 190
Total @t 335 1,358 1,698 32 3,423
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES'
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to any of the directors as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office
(2008: Nil).

During the year, Dr. Neil Kai Gu waived emoluments of
HK$20,000 (2008: Mr. Li Heguo waived emoluments of
HK$128,710, Mr. Chu Hon Pong waived emoluments
of HK$128,710, Mr. An Jinping waived emoluments
of HK$128,710 and Ms. Tong Pui Chi Lucia waived
emoluments of HK$48,226).

The directors consider that they are the only key
management personnel of the Group and details of their

compensation have been set out above.

Five highest paid employees

13. EEREER

(i)

(ii)

EHREEZHE (F)

EEME (&)

E@iﬂq P ARE B A E RS A
1’E7%?J§Z$EHHHZIKE@TEA)JHHHHTZ‘

i‘ﬂ’ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁw (Z22NF: 8&) -

RAFE - Bl X188 %83 £20,000
BL(ZEENE:  ZRELERR
B £128,710%8 7T+ K% B 5L £ # & W
£128,7108 L “RFEEREH S
128, 7108 TR EMS /NAREH €
48,2267 1) °

EERR HERAEECKE—TEER
AB AEBREREZHBFHRRLX

IEREHER

All (2008: 3) of the 5 highest paid individuals are directors, IEBESHFATHAREE (TS N\F:
details of whose emoluments have been set out above. The 3%) EMESFBER EXES - 2 T &
emoluments of the remaining non-director highest paid BBAT(FES) 2MEmT -
individuals are as follows:
2009 2008
—ETAE —TENF
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
TER FHEL
Salaries and other benefits e kHEMFIE - 230
Discretionary bonuses IS TE AL - 13
Contributions to retirement RRER B3R
benefits schemes - 7
Share-based payments PARR 7 7% 28 2 13K - 1,152
- 1,402

Emoluments of the non-director highest paid individuals fell
within the following band:

E

BHEALTCGEES) ZMENRTHEE

Number of individuals

AR
2009 2008

—genE  —TT)\F

Within HK$1,000,000 1,000,000/& 7T A - 3
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14. FIXED ASSETS 14. BEEE
The Group N 3
Property, plant and equipment
VENTE
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and Motor Construction  Leasehold
Buildings improvements  equipment  vehicles Total i progress land Total
&
BF HEXE RERZE RE BE RBRIE  HELH# E3
HKS' 000 HKS" 000 HK$" 000 HK$'000  HKS$'000 HKS" 000 HK$"000 HKS" 000
T TARL TR T T ThER TR TR
Cost; HA:
At1 April 2007 H-E5+EMA-A - - o) - ) - - )
Additions AE - - 13 - 13 - - 13
At 31 March 2008 and 1 April 2008 RZBENEZR=1-A
R=EE\ERA-A = = 255 = 255 - - 255
Acquired on acquisition of subsidaries RN L AR e 71,791 26,101 8,132 6130 112,154 50,384 1831 164,369
Additions RE 8,233 347 164 125 8,869 2,005 - 10,874
Exchange adjustments EiAE (541) (197) (61) (46) (845) (381) 13) (1,239)
At 31 March 2009 RZEENE=f=1-A 79,483 26,251 8,490 6,209 120,433 52,008 1,818 174,259
Accumulated amortization, EAAERAE:
depreciation and impairment:
At 1 April 2007 RZZZLEMA-A = = 61 - 61 - - 61
Charges for the year EFER - - 59 - 59 - - 59
At 31 March 2008 and 1 April 2008 RZZE\E=F=1-H
R-ZZN\§BA-H - - 120 - 120 - - 120
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries RN B AR E 1376 5,667 1536 2818 17,397 - 208 17,605
Charges for the year EEER 2,468 1341 660 535 5,004 - 5 5,056
Exchange adjustments EiHE (61) (46) (13) 23) (143) - ) (145)
At 31 March 2009 RZZENE=F=1-H 9,783 6,962 2,303 3,330 2378 - 258 22,636
Carrying amounts: HEfE:
At 31 March 2009 R-EEAE=A=1-H 69,700 19,289 6,187 2,879 98,055 52,008 1,560 151,623
At 31 March 2008 RZEE\E=f=1-A = = 135 - 135 - - 135

68
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15. GOODWILL 15. &
HK$' 000
FHET
Cost: R
At 1 April 2007, 31 March 2008 RZZTLFMAE—H
and 1 April 2008 —EENF=A=+—HBRK

ZZETNFMA—H =
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries (note 27) g B B /8 2 ) e i B (Bf 3E27) 28,963
Exchange adjustments BEE 37, 38 B 770
At 31 March 2009 —EEAF=A=+—H 29,733

Impairment test for cash-generating units containing
goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group's cash-generating units
("CGU") identified according to country of operation and
business segment as follows:

RREELEM(BEBE) ZRENR

EErEEzReELEM ([REE

HEED
HEBf])  REEERRREGHBEAMT :

2009 2008

—EEAE —TENEF

HK$' 000 HK$'000

TR FET

Funeral and related business operations — PRC BERBBEER—F 29,733 =
The recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based ReELEBEu ke BIREERER
on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use cash BET S TEREEEEREATH2H

flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond
the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated rates
stated below. The growth rate does not exceed the long-
term average growth rate for the business in which the CGU
operates.

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations:

BEERARERETEN - AFHUIIE &R
SRR TAGE A R - RReEE
BUEBEERME  BRETFHBARETH
BRE

RREREEAE CBARRKRR:

2009

—EBAF

%

Gross margin ER=E 70
Growth rate ERE
Discount rate B3R %
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15.

16.

GOODWILL (continued)

Management determined the budgeted gross margin based on
past performance and its expectation for market development.
The weighted average growth rates used are consistent with the
forecasts in industry trends. The discount rates used are pre-tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments.

No impairment loss is recognised for the year as the estimated

15. 58 (#)
MEEHE'JF ERAMEMSHERHETER
HEN - A MEFE R R HEITEBE
TR — 5 o BRI E R Ty AR BA & R bk 82
HE>EEE S ERR -

ARG RO REEASES  HAFA

recoverable amount is higher the carrying amount.

I E R ERE

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. Htt B EE
Golf club membership
ERARRNEEER
HK$' 000
FHET
Cost: B
At 1 April 2007, 31 March 2008 RZZZTLFMA—H
and 1 April 2008 —EENF=A=+—HBRK
—ZETN\FWMA—H -
Acquired on acquisition of subsidiaries (note 27) o B Bt B 7~ R R Uk B (BT EE27) 864
Exchange adjustments BE R B ()
At 31 March 2009 RZZEZAF=A=+—H 862
Accumulated amortisation and impairment: Rt B RAE :

At 1 April 2007, 31 March 2008
and 1 April 2008

RZZEZLFNA—RB - Z2EN\F=A=+—HEK
—ZET\FWMA—H =

Charges for the year FEEHR 17

At 31 March 2009 RZZEAF=ZA=+—H 17
Carrying amount: fREE :

At 31 March 2009 R=ZBBAF=ZA=1+—-H 845

At 31 March 2008 R-ZZBEZENF=ZA=+—H -

The golf club membership has a definite useful life of 50 years
over which amortisation is provided on a straight-line basis.

BRRELREEERER0FAREAF
R - WHS0F MIRE AL T A
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17. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE=-ZZAE=A=1+—HILEE

17. RHB AR ZRE
The Company

KAF
2009 2008
—EZNE —ZENF
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
FEx FHET
Unlisted shares, at cost JEET R - AR 40,000 40,005
Provision for impairment losses (B 5 18 B A (40,000) (40,005)

Details of principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2009, which
materially affected the Group’s results or net assets, are set out

HASBXEREEFEELEARECER
MEBRAR -_ZETEAF=A=1t—HZHFEH

in note 33. iNGEEEER
18. INVENTORIES 18. &
The Group
S 3L
2009 2008
—EENF —TENF
HK$' 000 HK$'000
TERT FHET
Healthcare products RIEEm - 586
Funeral products FRFEE i
— Materials and consumables —RE R ERE S 2,318 -
— Work in progress —ERIR 1,622 =
— Finished goods — 2B m 48,149 -
52,089 —
52,089 586
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19. AMOUNTS DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES

20.

19. FER BB 2 R FR
The Company

KAH

2009 2008

—EENE ZTTNF

HK$' 000 HK$' 000

TExT FHET

Amounts due from subsidiaries R ENGIE S 186,820 92,991

Accumulated impairment losses: REPRERSE

Beginning balance FOET (42,967) (50,482)
Written off against amounts due from FA 5 5 1 5 A Bt

subsidiaries on disposal NAEFIE 33,342 -

Provided during the year FERE (6,646) =

Reversed during the year FEREE - 7,515

Ending balance FRERF (16,271) (42,967)

Carrying amounts REE 170,549 50,024

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free

and repayable on demand.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

FEMM B R RIREEER 28 RIKERE

20. BUWRM K E A fE WK IE

The Group The Company
A ADT
2009 2008 2009 2008

SREAE “FT)\F SREAEF —TINF

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TER THT TET TAET

Trade receivables & Uiz B 7K 4,264 6,014 - =
Deposits and prepayments Be REAHKIE 76,084 18,435 146 18,379

Amounts due from shareholders =GP S
of subsidiaries FIE 5,678 - - -

Amounts due from directors of subsidiaries EWHBARIZES
A 1,925 - - -

Amounts due from related company & W Bl /BB 1 ) 2 R B
of subsidiary NGIE S 10,704 - - =
98,655 24,449 146 18,379
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
An aging analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

20. FE W BRI H At R WK OR ()

R RS 2 FREe A AT AN T

The Group The Company
r~EE PN
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENF ZTTE)N\F —EBRF ZTT)N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000
TER FBT FET FHET
0 - 30 days 0%30H 3,944 5,997 - -
31 - 60 days 31£260H - - - -
Over 60 days 608 A £ 320 17 - =
4,264 6,014 - -
No trade receivables are past due and not impaired. I 2 R R X E B BB R ORL(E

The amounts due from shareholders, directors and related U BARMRKRE EEREH AR ZFKED

EEAR . RS REETEEHRAR -

company of subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and have no

fixed terms of repayment.

21. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by the Group and
short-term bank deposits with original maturity of three months

or less.

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2. BERBTER
BeRRITHEGFEEASEFERE RRTH
RE=ZAAXERE 2 BHBRTER -

22. ENERRKREMENKE

The Group The Company
rEH PN
2009 2008 2009 2008
—2BhF —TT\F -BEAE —TI)\F
HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000
TR FET TR FET
Trade payables &1 BR 3R 26,395 421 - =
Other payables and accruals Hoth &~ R TE ]
fEEtER 49,949 1,134 61 101
Amounts due to shareholders FERHIB AR ZRE
of subsidiary IR 1,593 - - =
Amounts due to directors of subsidiaries ENHBARZES
TR 560 - - -
Amounts due to related companies FEATHT B 2 7] 2 BE B
of subsidiaries N AIFRIE 2,651 - - -
81,148 1,555 61 101
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22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 22, FEA BRI At FE S FROR ()
An aging analysis of trade payables is as follows: FERTBR R 2 BRB D AT I T
The Group The Company
rEH PN
2009 2008 2009 2008

—2ENE ZTT)/\F ZBEAF ZTT/\F
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TER TAT TER TAET

0 - 30 days 0£30H 1,404 421 - -

- 60 days 31260H - - - -

Over 60 days 608 A £ 24,991 = - =

26,395 421 - -

The amounts due to shareholders, directors and related ERMBARIRRE  EEREM AT 2HIED
companies of subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and have EEM 2ENREETEERR -

no fixed terms of repayment.

23. DEFERRED TAX 23. BEHRE
The Group's major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) not recognised AEERERAZEIEZELCHELE (AF)H
are analysed below: waT -
Property,
plant and Unused
equipment tax losses Total
mE - ABAZ
Bz RRE BEEE e

HK$'000 HK$" 000 HK$" 000
THT TAT TAET

At 1 April 2007 RZZTTELFMA—H 22 7,750 7,772
Change of tax rate RS X (1) (443) (444)
Net change in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) EFQ*EEWZLLHIE

not recognised for the year BE/(BE)2EHFEE (6) 315 309
At 31 March 2008 and 1 April 2008 RZZZNF=ZA=+—H

F—ZETEN\FWA—H 15 7,622 7,637

Net change in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) EE*EEWZLLHIE

not recognised for the year BE/ (BB Z8HTE (4) 1,196 1,192
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB A R R = (6,468) (6,468)
At 31 March 2009 R-BEAF=A=t—H 1 2,350 2,361
The Company has no significant deferred tax assets or liabilities ARAR_BENF=ZA=T—HIESEAR
not recognized at 31 March 2009 (2008: Nil). RZEERBEEXER(ZTT/\FE)
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24. SHARE CAPITAL 24. BR
Number of shares Amount
[gng 4= ME
000 HK$' 000
T A% FAT
Authorised (ordinary shares of HK$0.04 each): AT (BREEC.04E L2 T E) :
At 1 April 2007, 31 March 2008 and 2009 RZZFTLFMNA—H - ZTTN\EF
R—ZEZAF=A=+—H 5,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid (ordinary shares of BETRAR (BREMEC.4ET
HK$0.04 each): ZEBR)
At 1 April 2007 RZZEZLFMNA—H 752,139 30,086
Issue of new shares under share BEROREZITHRMD
subscriptions (note (a)) (M 3E(@)) 300,000 12,000
Issue of new shares upon exercise of bonus T AT F R AR PE B R AT AR D
warrants (note (b)) (Kt 7% (b)) 969 39
At 31 March 2008 and 1 April 2009 RZZEZENF=ZA=+—HK
ZZETNFRA—H 1,053,108 42,125
Issue of new shares under share BEROREZITHRM
subscriptions (note (c)) (F5E()) 150,000 6,000
Issue of new shares upon exercise of bonus TR SRR B R TR D
warrants (note (d)) (M 5E(d)) 678 27
At 31 March 2009 R-ZBBNF=B=+—H 1,203,786 48,152
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24. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Share subscriptions

On 24 September 2007, 300,000,000 shares of the Company
were issued under various subscription agreements, which were
approved by resolutions duly passed at an Extraordinary General
Meeting held by the Company on 18 September 2007, to
subscribers at a total consideration of HK$60,000,000, of which
HK$12,000,000 was credited to share capital account and the
net balance after expenses of HK$47,716,900 was credited to the
share premium account.

Exercise of share warrants

Bonus warrants were exercised by warrant holders during the year
ended 31 March 2008 to subscribe for a total of 968,989 shares in
the Company by payment of subscription monies of HK$445,735,
of which HK$38,759 was credited to share capital account and the
balance of HK$406,976 was credited to share premium account.

Share subscriptions

On 17 July 2008, 150,000,000 shares of the Company were issued
to subscribers at a total consideration of HK$120,000,000, of
which HK$6,000,000 was credited to share capital account and
the net balance after expenses of HK$110,482,627 was credited to
share premium account.

Exercise of bonus warrants

Bonus warrants were exercised by warrant holders during the year
ended 31 March 2009 to subscribe for a total of 678,259 shares in
the Company by payment of subscription monies of HK$311,999,
of which HK$27,130 was credited to share capital account and the
balance of HK$284,869 was credited to share premium account.

SUBERNE

24. R (%)
it -

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

7 R B

RZFEZELtHEAA=-F+MA £A27
300,000,0008% % 17 1R #& & R B8 & (Z = 1%
BEBR-_ZTTLFARTNBEITZARD
ARRERAS EERNBRZRERENE)
1% 48 X 860,000,000/ 7L R RS A B 4T - H
12,000,000/ 7T B 5T AR AR © MR A X 18
2 84 %847,716,9007 7T B B AT AR5 (B IR

THERAARES
BE-TT\E=A=+—BLEE 4FR
IRIEBBALFIRIRIEE A ATERIARBEE £
968,989 A A A MR D AR A RERE
4457357 7T » H 38,7598 L8 5T ABRAEE -
i E #2406,97675 L AIE st AR R B ©

7 R B

R=ZZFZN\E+A++H " 150,000,0008% A2
A AR 17 LA # £ {8120,000,0007 T2 1T TR E
A+ E 6,000,000 L E T ARANER AR %
EERFEE110,482,627 B LE AT ARMDRER ©

THEAFNZRES
BE-TTNE=-A=1t—BLEE 4FR
IRIEBBALFIRRIEE A ATHRIAREE £
678,259 AN F KM - AN AN RERE
311,999 7t * E727,130 LB 5T ABRAEE -
i E #2284,8698 L AIE st AR R B ©
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25. %
(a) The Group (a) =5£H
Share
Share Special Translation options Accumulated
premium  reserve  reserve  reserve losses Total
RiEE  KEIRE AERE BRERE RHEER a8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAT TAL TAL TAT TAT
At 1 April 2007 RZZZ+EMA-A 34,102 (39,998) - - (8,958) (14,854)
Loss for the year FEER - - - - (13369 (13,369)
Total recognised income and expense  FERAMARFZAE
for the year - - - - (13,369) (13,369)
Recognition of equity-settled ToNER A AEE RARD
share-based payments BEE [ - - - 9,922 - 9,922
Issue of ordinary shares under share BRERNRERTEER
subscriptions 4,117 - - - - 41,717
Issue of ordinary shares upon exercise  TEAIAZRERRRTL AR
of bonus warrants 407 - - - - 407
At 31 March 2008 and RZZZNEZA=T-Ak
1 April 2008 “ZF/\EMA-H 82,226 (39,993) = 9,922 (22,327) 29,823
Loss for the year EEER - - - - (6,290) (6,290)
Total recognised income and EERINARA B3
expense for the year - - - - (6,290) (6,290)
Issue of ordinary shares under BEROZERTEER
share subscriptions 110,483 - - - - 110,483
Issue of ordinary shares upon exercise  TFALAIZRERERTL AR
of bonus warrants 285 - - - - 285
Exchange differences arising on BEBNEB ERER
translation of foreign operations - - (1,243) - - (1,243)
Transfers upon share options /R BERE BB
cancelled/terminated - - - (1,435) 1,435 -
At 31 March 2009 RZBFNEZA=1-A 192,994 (39,998)  (1,243) 8487  (27,182) 133,058
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25. RESERVES (continued)

25. ##E (E)

(b) The Company (b) &2 F
Share
Share options Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
RDEE  BRERE R EE Fok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THL THT T
1 April 2007 —TE+FMHA-H 34,102 - (57,701) (23,599)
Loss for the year FEBSR = = (4,040) (4,040)
Total recognised income and ~ FEBABARAZLE
expense for the year - - (4,040) (4,040)
Recognition of equity-settled RUAER BB R AR
share-based payments AEB AR - 9,922 - 9,922
Issue of ordinary shares upon  fRIE[x (R E1TL AR
share subscriptions 47,717 - - 47,717
Issue of ordinary shares upon ~ fI{EALFRMRER R ITEBR
exercise of bonus warrants 407 - - 407
At 31 March 2008 and RZZZ\F=A=t—-HK
1 April 2008 “TEN\EMA—H 82,226 9,922 (61,741) 30,407
Loss for the year FEBR - = (15,166) (15,166)
Total recognised income and ~ FEBABARAZLE
expense for the year - - (15,166) (15,166)
Issue of ordinary shares under  iRIEEX (7RI BT L Bk
share subscriptions 110,483 - - 110,483
Issue of ordinary shares upon TP ALFIFRMRHERE By 21T L AR
exercise of bonus warrants 285 = = 285
Transfers upon share options &35 /&R IEEERIE 2 87
cancelled/terminated - (1,435) 1,435 -
At 31 March 2009 R-ZBEAF=RA=1-H 192,994 8,487 (75.472) 126,009
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25. RESERVES (continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium
Under the Companies Law (Revised) of the Cayman
Islands, the share premium of the Company is available
for paying distributions or dividends to shareholders
subject to the provisions of its Memorandum or Articles
of Association and provided that immediately following
the distribution or dividend, the Company is able to
pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

(i) Special reserve
The special reserve of the Group represents the
difference between the nominal value of the shares of
the acquired subsidiaries and the nominal value of the
Company's shares issued for the acquisition at the time
of the group reorganisation prior to the listing of the
Company’s shares in 2002.

(iif) Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt
with in accordance with the accounting policies set out
in note 3(h).

(iv) Share options reserve
The share options reserve represents the fair value of
the number of outstanding share options granted to
employees and consultants of the Group recognised
in accordance with the accounting policy adopted for
equity-settled share-based payments in note 3(r)(i).

(d) Distributability of reserves
In the opinion of the directors, the Company’s reserves
available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 March
2009 amounted to approximately HK$117,522,000 (2008:
Nil).
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26.

27.

CAPITAL DISCLOSURE
The Group's objectives when managing capital are:

() to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and

(i) to provide an adequate return to shareholders.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount
of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies and processes during the years
ended 31 March 2008 and 2009.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of gearing ratio, which
is calculated as total liabilities over total assets. The Group’s
strategy is to maintain the gearing ratio at a satisfactory level.
The gearing ratio as at 31 March 2009 was 26% (2008: 2%).

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group acquired certain subsidiaries in July 2008 for the
purpose of extending the Group’s activities to funeral and
related businesses. The fair values, which have no significant
differences from their respective carrying amounts, of the
identifiable assets and liabilities of those subsidiaries at the date
of acquisition and the goodwill arising from the acquisitions,
which are accounted for as business combinations, are as
follows:

26.

27.

BEXRE
AKRBEREREAZBRA:

() BROFBEMEZEN  RELEWH
B ARTRUEE R AR ABESHA
%R

(ii) MRREHRTTREH

AEERBEEGTEED RABEE AR
HEBBEARBERYEFLAR - REF A
BEARE AKEUEARARRTRE
ZEB RAERREBEEEAR  BITHK IHE
BEWREAGE -BE_TZN\FR_ZTTH
i_ﬂ_+75¢$§'ﬁ%%5%~ﬁ%&
BizELE

$E@&§EEfmT(ﬁﬁf%u@§E>

&?ﬂ£$ AEBEZRBABEREEREL
SARBEZKE - ZEFNF=A= +f

Zé?"é@twﬁm% (ZEENF:2%) °

e 55 Y /S 2 &)

AEER-_ZTZNFLAUBTETHER
Al NERERARBEZXBENERE AR
Be-nNBER ZEMNBRARZABERNEER
BEZAVERARAEYEERNER - Mk
FREBEHARZUEREL CBHEMT :
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27. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 27. WEME DR (&

Beijing
Zhongmin Qinhai Fuli
Anyuan Xinjiang ~ Fenghuangshan Neimenggu Taiyuan City
Investment  Ruilin Zhiye Cemetery Shenghe Wufuling
Company Company Company  Development Company
Limited Limited Limited Limited Limited
(acquiredon  (acquiredon  (acquired on  (acquired on  (acquired on
7July 2008) 18 July 2008) 18 July 2008) 18 July 2008) 18 July 2008) Total
ERET
LRPRRE  HERHEX BELAE RELEAZR ARTLER
REERAR  ROERAR  ROARLA AREELF  RHERAR
(M=2B\E (R=BBNF (RZBBNF (R-BENE (R-22)F
tAtHKE) tATNEYWE) tBtARKE) tA+AAKE) tATNAKE) L]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL TAR
Identifiable assets/(liabilites) WgzEREE/ (8E)
acquired:
Property, plant and equipment ERNEE 1,100 6,015 15,142 5,043 67,246 94,546
Construction in progress EEIR - 35,930 300 - 14,154 50,384
Leasehold land RELH - 1,560 271 - - 1,831
Other intangible assets AR EE 864 - = = - 864
Inventories k5 = 12,407 8,028 4,941 21,585 46,961
Trade and other receivables TR R A (R 5IE 177 11,174 2812 886 21,354 36,403
Amount due from shareholders FEl iR R - 1,195 = = 996 2,191
Amount due from directors ERESTE - 2,007 7 364 = 2378
Amount due from related companies  JEAEIBAAIZUE 9 - 8,943 - - 8,952
Cash and bank balances ReRBIER 2,843 136 129 195 389 3,692
Trade and other payables TR E MR (31) (14,228) (27,549) (2,309) (6373) (50,490)
Other payables - land lease RE 2 EfEMNFUE
payments - (11,805) - - - (11,805)
Amount due to directors ENESHE = (811) (245) - (509) (1,565)
Amount due to related companies EEHARE (5,186) - (1479) - - (6,661)
Income tax payable EEfFEHE = = (131) (1,276) (8,996) (10,403)
(224) 43,580 6,232 7,844 109,846 167,278
Net assets SERREGEETE
attributable to minority interests - (21,354) (2,991) (3,844) (53,825) (82,014)
(224) 22,226 3,241 4,000 56,021 85,264
Gain arising from business FBAREL E
combination - - - - (33,551) (33,551)
Goodwill arising from business EHAHEE GBS
combination written off 25,224 - - - - 25,224
Goodwill arising from business EBafEE HEEE
combination carried forward - 11,484 9,119 8,360 - 28,963
25,000 33,710 12,360 12,360 22,470 105,900
Total consideration satisfied by: BREZEH
Cash e 105,900
Net cashflow arising on acquisition: WEMEE DFRER -
Cash paid TiRe (105,900)
Cash and bank halances acquired WERE R RENER 3,602
(102,208)

ANNUAL REPORT 2009 3R

81



ZMAY HOLDINGS LIMITED # R % ERERQFA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 45 Bzt

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE-ZZAF=A=1+—HIFE

27. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 27. WEME AR (&

82

Goodwill arisen from the business combination with Beijing
Zhongmin Anyuan Investment Company Limited (”Beijing
Zhongmin Anyuan”) of approximately HK$25,224,000 was
written off immediately as the recoverable amount is considered
to be nil, because (i) Beijing Zhongmin Anyuan is an investment
holding company which will not carry on material income-
generating activities and (i) the benefits from the business
combination with Beijing Zhongmin Anyuan cannot be
separately and reliably measured in relation to the expected
benefits from the business combinations with other entities
being or to be acquired by Beijing Zhongmin Anyuan.

Gain arising from the business combination with Taiyuan City
Wufuling Company Limited of approximately HK$33,551,000,
which represented the excess of the fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities acquired over the cash consideration paid,
was recognized immediately in the income statement.

Goodwill arisen from the business combinations with
Xinjiang Ruilin Zhiye Company Limited, Qinhai Fuli
Fenghuangshan Cemetery Company Limited and Neimenggu
Shenghe Development Limited amounted to approximately
HK$28,963,000 in total, which represented premium paid in
relation to the benefit of expected synergies, revenue growth
and future market development of those entities, is considered
to be recoverable from future economic benefits generated from
their business activities.

Those new subsidiaries contributed approximately
HK$36,154,000 to the Group's profit for the periods between
the dates of acquisition and 31 March 2009.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 April 2008, the
Group's total revenue for the year ended 31 March 2009 would
have been approximately HK$75,450,000, and loss for the
year ended 31 March 2009 would have been approximately
HK$336,000. The pro forma information is for illustrative
purpose only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and
results of the Group that actually would have been achieved
had the acquisitions been completed on 1 April 2008, nor is it
intended to be a projection of future results.

HROIERPREZEEERR AR ([ERHFR
ZE) AB—REEERAR YEAELEX
WAZER  RiVEILRPRZEETELS
HIEENFZ  THEBRASHFEEH
TRPRZENBEGE B ETERAHE
ez At Bt FRRREZEET
¥BEHAEENEELA25,224,000% T
18 B &R D 2 3058 - B BIE 2 B -

HARMARERGOBRARETERE A
A US40 433,551,00058 7T - BNEEA 2 A
HANBERBRBRZATERRTHZEER
B ERRERTEIERER -

BHEREREERNERLAA  58EFEE
WAEBRGBERARMARLEEMERERE
TRAIETEGAHMEENEEAENE
28,963,000 ' AN EEEZENEH 2
BRI WA R KRRz T 5% RN H
ZEBEE WRAURERRESZEHME
A2 &R g R R AR IR o

RUREBE-_ZTZNE=A=+—HItZ
HE HETRBARARAEBRENA
36,154,000/8 7T 2 )& Al o

EHERBER-_ZETTNFHA—HBREK A
EEHE_TTEAFE-A=+—HIEFEHWK
A#4)A75,450,0008 T BHE_TZENF =
A=+—HIEFEFHEKHAE336,0008TT ° It
ZHEZERATERRB  YHEBRAEERZ
ZZN\FNA—BERTERZZWERS 2K
@ MO A I FETEEE B RIREE 2 TR -
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28. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 28.
The Group disposed of certain wholly-owned inactive
subsidiaries, namely New Chinese Medicine (HK) Limited,
Wondergold Limited and Harvest Rich Limited, during the year
at a total consideration of HK$3. An analysis of the financial
effects arising on the disposal is as follows:

HEMHE QT
FNAKENRREISETLESTEERA
MERLEMBAR  AHHEFEEFRD
A BEARAFRLYEARAR - HEEL
ZHBEEDFMT :

2009
—ERhE
HK$’ 000
FHET
Net liabilities disposed of: PAHEREFEE
Cash and bank balances ReRRITER 9
Trade and other payables & A< BR 3R R L At JE < 5/ 18 (593)
(584)
Gain on disposal & s 584
Total consideration, satisfied by: RN 2 BRE
Cash Ré =
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEEEZRERLFE
Cash and bank balances disposed of Tt E 2 He RIR1THER )
29. COMMITMENTS 29. &I

(a) Operating lease commitments
At the balance sheet date, the Group's commitments in
respect of future minimum lease payments under non-
cancelable operating leases are as follows:

(a) EEHENERE
REBER AEEREBAMBEENEZT
AREEEEOR AT HARH 2 KKK
DPEEEEMT

2009 2008

—EEZNF —ETN\EF

HK$' 000 HK$’000

THERT FERT

Within 1 year —F R E - 12
After 1 year but within 5 years E_FEEFAEIH - =
- 12
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29. COMMITMENTS (continued) 29. AIE (&)

(b) Capital commitments (b) BREE
At the balance sheet date, the capital commitments REER  ARBBRERABE 2 REE
outstanding not provided for in the financial statements are RARBRN 2 EARRENT -
as follows:
The Group The Company
rEH PN
2009 2008 2009 2008
“EThE ZTENF ZEThE ZTTN\F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
TER FHBT THET FHET
Acquisition of subsidiary contracted for WM B AR (EET4) 124,759 25,000 - 25,000
Deposit paid BEffEe (36,440) (15,000) - (15,000)

88,319 10,000 - 10,000

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 30. R ECHE
The Company's share option scheme (the “Share Option ARARE-—HEARZRER _TE_F_F1
Scheme”) was approved on 1 February 2002 pursuant to a —HRUEARR R BT 2 ([ BB 8l -
written resolution of the Company.

84

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Company to grant options to selected individuals to subscribe
for shares in the Company as incentives or rewards for their
contributions to the Group. The Board may, at its discretion,
invite any full-time or part-time employee of the Company
or any member of the Group, including any director of any
member of the Group and any advisor or consultant (in areas
of technical, financial or corporate managerial) of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries to take up options to subscribe for the
shares in the Company for a consideration of HK$1 per each lot
of share options granted. The Share Option Scheme will remain
valid for a period of 10 years commencing on 1 February 2002.
The option period shall not be less than 3 years and shall not
exceed 10 years from the date of acceptance of option. There is
no minimum period for which an option must be held before it
can be exercised. HK$1 is payable on acceptance of an option
within 28 days from the date of grant.

BREAEEESZALARLHEALRNT
RBARAIRD BEE  FARSHAKE
FIFERZ RBHE®R - E=E A BBEEH
DRHAREEFKE QA2 2B RE
BE BRASEEAKERRIZENERER
AR RISE B A B 2 IR A S AA
(Bl MBREEEREE) - NWEAA
RBBRDBR < BIE - SHATR L BRE
ZRERIBT - ﬁ%ﬁx%ﬁi‘lﬂﬁﬁ_? T_F-
A— Elﬁ_qu-l-EE;ﬁF'aEJWiEH*ﬁ‘x& R R
AhEABRERREFIGIR=FRTRE
B TF - BA I?ﬁ%ﬁmﬁ%ﬁx%éﬁﬁ’émﬁﬁl i
AR - RRBRERN 2 VBETARE
H B HEt28H AR AT o
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 30. BIRAERTE (&

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate
exceed 46,900,000 shares, which represent 10% of the shares
in issue as at 7 March 2002, being the date of listing of the
Company’s shares on GEM, unless approval from the Company’s
shareholders has been obtained. The total number of shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted
and to be granted to each individual in any twelve-month period
up to and including the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of
the shares in issue at the date of grant unless approval from
Company’s shareholders has been obtained. By an ordinary
resolution duly passed at an extraordinary general meeting of
the Company held on 19 September 2008, the total number
of shares in respect of with options may be granted under the
Share Option Scheme was increased to 120,378,613 shares,
which represents 10% of the total number of shares in issue at
the date of passing the resolution.

Options may be exercised at any time during the specified
option period. The exercise price shall be determined by the
directors of the Company, and shall be at least the highest of
(i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as stated on GEM's
daily quotation sheets on the date of grant; (ii) the average
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of the Company’s shares.

The overall limit on the number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes involving the issue or grant of options must not exceed
30% of the Company’s shares in issue from time to time.
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M+—EAAHEARNEEALIRERERTZ
BRERTEREBITREETZRMAHT
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FNATNARTZARRRRENAE EIE
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 30. BIRERTE (F)

86

Details of the existing share options granted by the Company
under the Share Option Scheme are as follows:

AN FRIEI RSB R A R 2 S
W :

Number of share Fair value at

Date of grant Exercise period options granted Exercise price grant date
REH

BREBH THELE BRHEREZE TEE AEAFE
HK$ HK$

BT BT

16 November 2007 16 November 2007 to 105,219,106 1.1 0.0943

16 November 2010
“ETEF+—RA+RH ZESEF+—A+AHZE
“E-ZF+—A+"H

The closing share price immediately before the date on which
the share options were granted was HK$1.1.

The fair value of the share options granted during the year was
HK$0.0943 per option and the Group recognized a share option
expense of HK$9,922,162 during the year ended 31 March
2008.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during
the year was estimated as at the date of grant, using the
Binomial Option Pricing Model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the share options were granted. The
inputs into the Model were as follows:

Expected volatility: 83.23%
Risk-free interest rate: 2.705%
Expected life of option: 3 years

The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome. No other feature of the share
options granted was incorporated into the measurement of fair
value.

No share options were granted during the year ended 31 March
2009.

BERENBEREZA RN UHER VBT -

FERNEREERE 2 AFEE0.09438 T A&
EEBE-_EEN\FE=A=+—BIFEER
2 BRI ER X A9,922,1628 7T °

FARLARE A EE RARDAERE 2B
BEATERZE AN B BETEER
fliEh - WEEE L ERE 2GR - ZEXBA
HENT

TEERR BN &) 83.23%
R B 8K 2.705%
BREE T 3F

FRAT BB R B = R S B R RO SR AB £ O £
i BRARBBEA—ERERER - Kz
BERELBEMTEFARFEZHES -

BE_ZZNF=A=+—HILFEH[ILE
R EfERE -
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Details of the Company’s share options outstanding during the

year are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2009 HE=-ZZAE=A=1+—HILEE

30. BREE (&)
FRARRARATEBREZFEOT :

Number of share Cancelled/  Number of share
options outstanding Granted Exercised terminated options
at beginning during during during  outstanding at
Date of grant Exercise price of the year the year the year the year  end of the year
ENHRGTE FE  ERHAGHZ
RHAM ke ZBREHE FERM FENE /R BREHE
HK$
BT
2009
“RRNE
Directors 16/11/2007 1.1 18,000,000 - - (10,500,000) 7,500,000
g%
Employees 16/11/2007 1.1 12,219,106 - - (4,719,106) 7,500,000
E&
Consultants 16/11/2007 1.1 75,000,000 - - - 75,000,000
B
105,219,106 - - 15,219,106 90,000,000
2008
—ZT)\E
Directors 16/11/2007 1.1 - 18,000,000 - - 18,000,000
g%
Employees 16/11/2007 1.1 = 12,219,106 = = 12,219,106
&8
Consultants 16/11/2007 1.1 - 75,000,000 - - 75,000,000
L
= 105,219,106 = = 105,219,106
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31.

32.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF")
Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets
of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group,
in funds under the control of trustees. The Group and its
employees are each required to make monthly contributions
at 5% of relevant payroll costs or HK$1,000, whichever is the
lower, to the scheme. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions
under the scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries in the People’s
Republic of China are members of a state-managed retirement
benefit scheme operated by the local government. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a specified percentage
of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefit scheme is to make the specified
contributions.

During the year ended 31 March 2009, the total contributions
made by the Group to the retirement benefit schemes and
charged to the consolidated income statement amounted to
HK$659,020 (2008: HK$73,622).

As at 31 March 2009, there were no forfeited contributions
available for the Group to offset contributions payable in future
years (2008: Nil).

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s major financial instruments include bank balances,
trade and other receivables, trade and other payables. Details of
these financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments and the
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

(a) Market risk
(i) Currency risk
Foreign currency risk arises when future commercial
transactions and recognized assets and liabilities are
denominated in a currency that is not the Group’s
functional currency. The directors consider that the
Group does not have significant foreign currency risk.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Market risk (continued)

(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets
and liabilities as at 31 March 2009, the Group's income
and operating cash flows are substantially independent
of changes in market interest rates.

(iii)  Price risk
The Group is not subject to significant price risk.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the possibility that the counterparty
to a transaction is unwilling or unable to fulfill its obligation
with the results that the Group thereby suffers financial
loss. The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables,
and bank balances and cash included in the consolidated
balance sheet represent the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk in relation to financial assets. No other financial
assets carry a significant exposure to credit risk. The Group
monitors the trade receivables on an ongoing basis and only
trades with creditworthy third parties. In addition, all the
Group's bank balances and cash are deposited with major
banks in Hong Kong. The Group has policies in place for the
control and monitoring of such credit risk.

At the balance sheet date, the Group had concentration of
credit risk as over 90% (2008: over 90%) of the total trade
receivables was due from 1 (2008: 1) major customer which
had no history of default.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management regularly reviews its major funding
positions to ensure that it has adequate financial resources
in meeting its financial obligations.
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33. B A A=1E

Proportion of nominal

33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Issued and value of issued
Place of fully paid up share capital held Principal activities
Name of subsidiary incorporation Legal form share capital by the Company (Place of operation)
BRR ARARACEN
WEAREH it fie L b % EERA PEARRA REEEAEAL IERB(ER4Y)
Directly Indirectly
E% B
% %
New Chinese Medicine British Virgin Islands Limited liability company ~ Ordinary 100 - Investment holding
(BVI) Limited RBRAHE BRELAR US$200 (Hong Kong)
Lak00%T RERR(EE)
New Chinese Medicine Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company ~ Ordinary = 100 Investment holding and
HEZERAA &b EREfAH HK$10,000 provision of secretarial
LAk services
10,000 (Hong Kong)
REBRRERUERH
(B#)
NCM Group (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands Limited liability company ~ Ordinary 100 - Investment holding
EERNES EREFAT Us$1 (Hong Kong)
Ll REBR(FE)
NCM Healthcare Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company ~ Ordinary = 100 Trading of healthcare
HBERRARAT B EREfAH HK$2 products
LERET (Hong Kong)
REERE 5 (BR)
NCM Healthcare (HK) Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company ~ Ordinary - 100 Trading of healthcare
FRERR(AA)ERAA B EREFAF HK$2 products
LARETL (Hong Kong)
ReERES(FE)
Asia Honest (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong Limited liability company ~ Ordinary - 100 Provision of management
HF (B BRAT &k BREFAT HKS 1 services
LERIET (Hong Kong)
RUERRE (F4)
Quick Faith Limited British Virgin Islands Limited liability company ~ Ordinary - 100 Inactive
EERAES EREFAH Us$1 (Hong Kong)
ARz EREX(3%R)
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33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 33. B A RFHE (&)

(continued)
Proportion of nominal
Issued and value of issued
Place of fully paid up share capital held Principal activities
Name of subsidiary incorporation Legal form share capital by the Company (Place of operation)
BELN LR
WEARZHE ARAL Y EERH REMRRA BAEERAL IEXB(EXNY)
Directly Indirectly
EE [}
% %
FRRRZESERAGRAR The People’s Republic  Limited liability company ~ Ordinary - 100 Business consultancy
of China BRELAR HK$20,000,000 (The People’s Republic
hEAREAE Lak of China)
20,000,000%7 BRAA(FEARLNE)
IR RZBERAERAF The People’s Republic ~ Limited liability company ~~ Ordinary - 100 Investment holding
of China EREMA RMB2,000,000 (The Peaple’s Republic
mEAREANE LER of China)
AR%2,000,0007 REABR (REARLNE)
nERMEZRABRAA The People's Republic ~ Limited liability company ~~ Ordinary - 51 Funeral and related business
of China BREAAA RMBS50,000,000 (The People’s Republic
mEARLAE Lak of China)
AR 50,000,0007 REREBEH
(REARLAE)
ERRTEELAZEREMRAA  ThePeople's Republic  Limited liability company  Ordinary = 5 Funeral and related business
of China AREALH RMB3,447,243 (The People’s Republic
mEAREAE LER of China)
NR#3,447.28370 RELRBXK
(REARLANE)
MELENERERELAA The People's Republic ~ Limited liability company ~ Ordinary - 51 Funeral and related business
of China BREAAA RMB3,000,000 (The People’s Republic
mEARLAE Lak of China)
AR #3,000,0007 REREBEH
(REARLAE)
ARTHEERAERAR The People’s Republic ~ Limited liability company ~~ Ordinary - 51 Funeral and related business
of China EREFAT RMB30,000,000 (The People's Republic
mEAREANE LER of China)
AR%30,000,0007 RERABES
(REARLANE)

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at the

end of the year or at any time during the year.
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The summarised consolidated results, assets and liabilities and
minority interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the audited financial statements of the Group, are set

AEEBEREANRFELGRARE BERAG
URLBRREZME BEETEELERNT
W) HIMT

out below:
RESULTS EF
Year ended 31 March
BZE=HB=1t—-HLEE
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
—EERF —ETRF —TTHF —TT)N\F ZBEIE
HK$ 000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FATT FET
Turnover EE L 8,011 9,016 14,692 29,776 55,720
Loss before tax B % A & 1B (3,425) (1,332) (6,628) (13,369) (1,116)
Income tax g - - - - (2,265)
Loss for the year FEEE (3,425) (1,332) (6,628) (13,369) (3,381)
Attributable to: TF A LML -
Equity holders of the Company AR RIBRAFE A (3,420) (1,332) (6,628) (13,369 (6,290)
Minority interests DER RS (5) = = = 2,909
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND MINORITY INTERESTS BE BERIVBRRES
As at 31 March
R=HA=+-—H
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
“TTRE —TTAFE —ITLF —TTN\F CBEAF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FATT FTHT
Total assets HWEE 1,767 15,596 20,315 73,503 357,182
Total liabilities HAEE (18,868) (13,606) (5,083) (1,555) (92,254)
Net assets/(liabilities) BETFE/(AEFH) (17,101) (1,990) 15,232 71,948 264,928
Minority interests DE R R - - - - 83,718
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